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Foreword and Executive Summary 
 
Introduction 
 
As much as two thirds of financial resources available on capital markets in the developed 
world come from insurance and pension funds. Those are at the same time the longest term 
assets in the national economy, with the usual maturity over 10 years. The importance of 
those assets is increasing also in Slovenia, however, the European share in BDP has not yet 
been attained.  
 
Unfortunately, due to its underdevelopment, the Slovenian market of long-term investment-
credit instruments (various bonds, including mortgage and other guarantee instruments) has 
insufficient capacity to absorb these annual increases in valuable long-term assets, and they 
flow out into the European securities. It seems that the domestic, Slovenian saving will to a 
large extent boost investments and employment outside Slovenia.  
 
Membership in the European Union has brought Slovenia a multitude of rights but also 
considerable obligations in all financial areas, including insurance. As an example, the 
European Commission has already prepared and adopted around 45 directives regulating 
the insurance area (including voluntary supplementary pension schemes). In recent years, 
the EU regulatory framework has been rapidly responding to increasingly more complex 
relations on the European financial markets through directives which at first regulated only 
the so-called solo supervision, then supervision of one-sector groups, which developed into 
the inter-sectoral supervision of financial conglomerates. As the sole national insurance 
supervisory authority, the Insurance Supervision Agency has to comply with all those 
directives in performance of its tasks.   
 
There are two characteristics which distinguish the Slovenian insurance industry from 
comparable financial sectors in other accession states: seven out of fourteen insurance 
companies are composite insurance companies, i.e. they are granted an authorisation to 
perform insurance operations both in non-life and in life insurance; and as many as nine of 
them are still in the majority domestic ownership (approx. 90 % of the insurance market). 
Such a situation in the insurance market requires from the Insurance Supervision Agency 
appropriate professional competence for performing the supervision of the insurance 
undertakings as individual legal persons and taking into account their holdings in EU Member 
State and third country insurance companies. In accordance with the EU legislative principle 
of "home country control", the Agency is responsible also for supervising branches of the 
Slovenian insurance undertakings and their direct performance of insurance operations in EU 
Member States and in the third countries.  
 
Development of the Insurance Market and Risk Management 
 
After introduction of the market system at the beginning of the nineties, the insurance 
companies – unlike the banking sector – rehabilitated themselves, and succeeded in 
maintaining a high concentration in the insurance market. As a result, the biggest insurance 
company (by total gross premium collected) still maintained its market share above 42 % 
(without health insurance even 53 %) as at the end of 2005, and the aggregate market share 
of the four biggest insurance undertakings was close to 86 %.  However, it is noteworthy that 
half of the insurance companies succeeded in increasing their respective market shares in 
2005 on account of a decrease in the share for the first two biggest insurance companies.  
 
In Slovenia, the share of insurance premium in GDP increased by half between 1992 and the 
end of 2005, and in 2005 exceeded 5.2 % of the GDP mark. The respective shares in EU 
Member States were approx. 8.3 % in 2004. The share of the insurance premium collected in 
Slovenia is lagging behind the comparable shares of the EU Member States, mostly on 
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account of the life insurance premium. In 2005, it accounted for 1.3 % of GDP, while the 
share of life insurance premium in GDP in EU Member States (EU-25) was almost 5 % in 
2004. The life insurance premium collected in Slovenia in the last year has recorded an 
annual increase of 15 % in real terms and exceeded 24 % of  total premium collected (in EU 
approx. 60 % of total premium). 
 
In addition to »potential« of the insurance sector in the life insurance area, the 2000 pension 
reform introduced also the voluntary supplementary pension insurance; at the end of 2005, 
there were 4 pension companies underwriting pension insurance, with the total premium 
collected amounting to SIT 19.8 billion, 6 mutual funds, with the total premium collected in 
the amount of SIT 20.2 billion, and the Supplementary Pension Insurance Fund (the First 
Pension Fund), managed by the Pension Fund Management Company.  
 
The stability of the insurance sector and in particular of individual insurance companies is 
conditional upon adequate risk management, i.e. management of the two portfolios and their 
matching. Risks associated with liabilities are related to determination of premium rates, 
estimating future liabilities (so-called "underwriting risks") and equalising those risks through 
co-insurance and re-insurance. The net retention level in the total premium remained almost 
at the same level as in 2004 both for insurance undertakings (i.e. 90 %) and for reinsurance 
undertakings (i.e. 65 %). There are also risks associated with assets management, i.e. 
investment of assets received under insurance policies, in particular the risk of loss because 
of changes in the capital markets, interest rates lowering, exchange rate fluctuations and 
insolvency of contractual partners. 
 
At the end of 2005, investments of Slovenian insurance undertakings (without reinsurance 
undertakings) totalled almost SIT 640 billion, of which investments of assets covering 
technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions accounted for SIT 593 
billion. The share of investments of insurance companies (without reinsurance companies) in 
GDP  increased from 5.6 % to 9.8 % of GDP between 2001 and 2005, which is an additional 
indicator of the expected future growth of the Slovenian insurance sector and thereby its role 
in the functioning of capital markets. On the other hand, investments of pension companies 
reached SIT 76.4 billion; of these SIT 67.9 billion were investments of assets covering 
mathematical provisions.  
 
In 2001, insurance undertakings showed a deficit in investments of assets covering technical 
provisions compared to technical provisions, while the mathematical provisions were 
adequately covered by investments (life insurance investments) for the first time ever. In 
2002, also investments of assets covering technical provisions (without assets covering 
mathematical provisions) for the first time reached the level of coverage of other technical 
provisions. This coverage further improved in 2005. 
 
Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions (without assets covering 
mathematical provisions) and assets covering mathematical provisions for insurance 
undertakings as at 31 December 2005 
 

Investments of assets 
covering technical provisions 
(without assets covering 
mathematical provisions) 
 

Investments of assets covering 
mathematical provisions 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                           
Government securities     37.6%     46.1% 
Bank deposits      13.6%       8.3% 
Debt securities      17.5%     27.7% 
Equity securities      16.5%     16.8% 
Other (loans, real estate, … )    14.8%       1.1% 
Total                   100.0%   100.0% 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
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The domestic capital cannot absorb the entire volume of investments of insurance 
companies, and they have to seek access to foreign capital markets. At the end of 2005, 
investments in foreign shares and bonds already amounted to SIT 82 billion, which was by 
28 % more than in the previous year. 
 
As a further risk management measure, all insurance companies have to maintain a 
sufficient amount of capital, i.e. ensure the minimum capital adequacy. At the end of 2005, 
insurance undertakings, reinsurance undertakings and pension companies posted in the 
aggregate SIT 28 billion of the available capital surplus. As at 31 December 2004, a deficit in 
the available capital was reported by two insurance undertakings in non-life insurance and by 
two insurance undertakings in life assurance. One year later, on 31 December 2005, only 
one insurance undertaking underwriting non-life insurance and one insurance undertaking 
dealing with life assurance showed deficit. 
 
Activities of the Insurance Supervision Agency 
 
The Insurance Supervision Agency is responsible for preparation and issuing implementing 
regulations in the insurance area and for their amendment. Also in 2005, with the purpose of 
aligning the regulatory framework with the new provisions of the Insurance Act, the 
Companies Act and the Health Care and Health Insurance Act, the Agency drafted and 
issued four new implementing regulations, eleven amendments to the existing implementing 
regulations and prepared a new instruction for reporting on assets with a view to unifying the 
reporting procedure.  
 
In 2005, the Agency adopted the following new implementing regulations or amendments to 
the existing ones: 
 
New implementing regulations 
 

1. Decision on the first compilation of financial statements of insurance undertakings in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards  

 
2. Decision on detailed contents of documentation supporting the application for authorisation to assume 

the function of member of the board of directors 
 

3. Decision on detailed method of calculation/offset of assets covering mathematical provisions or old-age 
provisions 

 
4. Decision on detailed method of accounting for and disclosure of transactions relating to equalisations in 

supplementary health insurance 
 
Amendments to the existing implementing regulations 
 

1. Decision amending the Decision on detailed rules for calculation of the insurance undertakings’ minimum 
capital 

 
2. Decision amending the Decision on supervision of an insurance group 

 
3. Decision amending the Decision on registers of insurance agents, insurance brokers, insurance 

agencies and insurance brokerage companies 
 

4. Decision amending the Decision on detailed method of calculating capital and compliance with capital 
and capital adequacy requirements 

 
5. Decision amending the Decision on contents of reports referred to in Articles 176 and 236 of the 

Insurance Act, as well as the method and time limits for reporting 
 

6. Decision amending the Decision on detailed conditions for acquiring and examining the expertise 
necessary for transacting the business of insurance agency and brokerage 
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7. Decision amending the Decision on detailed rules and minimum standards relating to calculation of 

technical provisions 
 

8. Decision amending the Decision on reporting the statistical insurance data - SKL2002 
 

9. Decision amending the Decision on annual report and quarterly financial statements of insurance 
undertakings – SKL 2002 

 
10. Decision amending the Decision on the chart of account for insurance undertakings – SKL2002 

 
11. Decision on the report on types and value of investments not financed from technical provisions 

 
12. Instruction for preparation of reports on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets 

covering mathematical provisions delivered by insurance undertakings on electronic media 
 
 
The area of responsibility of the Agency also includes the issue of authorisations and 
consents as well as orders on elimination of violations of regulations on insurance 
undertakings’ operations. 
 
Summary of issued, rejected/refused authorisations, consents and orders on elimination of 
violations in 2005 and 2004 
 
Type of authorisation 
 

2004 2005

Authorisation for merger by acquisition of an insurance undertaking 
 

 1 

Authorisation to take into account a half of the non-paid-up capital of an 
insurance undertaking  
 

 1 

Authorisation for direct insurance business in individual EU Member States 
 

 3 

Authorisation for transfer of insurance contracts 
 

2 1 

Authorisation for performance of insurance/reinsurance operations 
 

4 2 

Authorisation on the basis of compliance of insurance companies with the IA 
 

7  

Authorisation for transfer of outsourced operations 
 

4 3 

Authorisation to acquire a qualifying holding in an insurance/pension company 
 

5 4 

Authorisation relating to investments of assets covering technical provisions 
and assets covering mathematical provisions 
 

7  

Authorisation to extend business to other classes of insurance 
 

1  

Prior opinion to a bank for provision of insurance brokerage services 
 

4  

Authorisation for performance of the function of a member of the board of 
directors in an insurance undertaking 
 

13 5 

Authorisation for performance of tasks of a certified actuary 
 

6 1 

Authorisation for division 
 

1  

Authorisations for performance of insurance brokerage or agency services 
 

932 626 

Order on elimination of violations 
 

13 7 

Total 999 654 
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In the second half of 2004 and throughout 2005, the Agency co-operated with the Ministry of 
Finance in preparation of the Act amending the Insurance Act (IA-C). The Agency also co-
operated with the Ministry of Health, which in 2004 launched the preparation of amendments 
to the Health Care and Health Insurance Act (HCHIA-OCT1) in the part relating to 
supplementary health insurance. The amended Act, introducing the equalisation schemes, 
entered into force in August 2005. There was another legislative effort in 2005 in which the 
Agency participated – together with the Ministry of Finance, Bank of Slovenia and Securities 
Market Agency – as a member of the working group responsible for preparing the Financial 
Conglomerates Act. The said Act entered into force in April 2006. 
                                
In 2005, the Agency, in co-operation with the Irish consulting company Visor, continued with 
establishing the information system to aid electronic reporting and automatic monitoring of 
statistical data in non-life and life insurance.  
 
With Slovenia’s full membership in the European Union, the EU legislative principle of the 
common authorisation or the so-called »common EU passport« has started to apply also in 
the insurance area.  By the end of 2005, the Insurance Supervision Agency received 203 
notifications from supervisory authorities of EU Member States of insurance undertakings 
intending to perform insurance operations in Slovenia, either directly or through a branch. 
The majority of such notifications – of which almost all relate to direct performance of 
insurance operations in non-life insurance classes – was received from supervisory 
authorities of Great Britain, Ireland, Austria, Italy and Germany. 
 
The Insurance Supervision Agency – as the Slovenian insurance supervisory authority – is 
the founding member of the Committee of European Insurance and Occupational Pension 
Supervisors – CEIOPS). CEIOPS is the main consultative body (»Primary Adviser«) to the 
European Commission in preparing insurance and pension directives. The major current task 
of CEIOPS is the project Solvency II, with the main emphasis on capital requirements and 
supervisory inspections of individual legal persons. 
 
In order to be able to fulfil its major mission, i.e. to provide security of policyholders, the 
Agency will have to ensure strict and continuous supervision in all areas of the so-called 
prudential management of insurance undertakings. Such supervision will be increasingly 
more important due to the rapidly growing importance of long-term insurance (life, pension 
and health) and because of a wide variety of emerging new investments instruments and 
risks. In order to ensure proper assessment of risks and to establish the adequate – sufficient 
– capital of insurance undertakings to match those risks, the Agency will endeavour to 
"individualise" risks at the level of each insurance undertaking.   
 
  
 

 
Ljubljana, 23 June 2006 

 
 

 
 
Jurij Gorišek, M.Sc.  
         Director  
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I. REPORT ON BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF THE 
INSURANCE INDUSTRY IN 2005 

 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

In 2005, the Slovenian insurance market was shared by seventeen insurance 
undertakings1 (fifteen insurance undertakings2 and two reinsurance undertakings), four 
pension companies, the Nuclear pool, Slovene Insurance Association – Indemnity 
Fund, and Pension Fund Management Company3. 
 
The majority of insurance undertakings performs both non-life and life insurance 
operations. Six insurance undertakings are specialised for non-life insurance, of which 
two underwrite only voluntary health insurance, and one life insurance, supplemented 
by accident insurance coverage. Pension companies may be engaged in no other 
activities but voluntary supplementary pension insurance services. 
 
However, 2005 brought certain changes to the insurance market. Triggered by the 
amendments made to the Insurance and Financing of International Commercial 
Transactions Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 2/04), and supported by the growth of 
the marketable insurance portfolio, the Slovene Export Corporation established the 
Prva kreditna Insurance Company, which commenced business on 1 January 2005. 
The Slovene Export Corporation transferred to the Prva kreditna Insurance Company 
its portfolio of marketable insurance, which, however, will not affect the continuous 
implementation of rights and obligations arising from contracts concluded. Another 
change was a partial division of the Slovenica Insurance House, which resulted in 
establishing a new legal person – the Slovenica Življenje Life Insurance Company. The 
Slovenica Insurance House has transferred to the latter its life insurance portfolio, while 
itself continuing to manage the non-life insurance portfolio.  
 
There was also a change in the area of insurance integration. In December 2005, a 
new insurance undertaking, the Adriatic Slovenica Insurance Company, was created 
through the merger of the Adriatic Insurance Company and the Slovenica Insurance 
House.  
 
In 2005, the insurance market continued to be controlled by three insurance groups:  
the first is grouped around the Triglav Insurance Company as the parent (controlling) 
insurance undertaking to the Triglav Re Reinsurance Company and the Triglav Health 
Insurance Company; the parent company of the second group is the Sava Reinsurance 
Company, controlling the Tilia Insurance Company and related to the Maribor 
Insurance Company, while the Adriatic Slovenica Insurance Company and the 
Slovenica Življenje Life Insurance Company constitute the third group.   

                                                 
1 Sixteen insurance undertakings as at the end of the year, after the merger of the Adriatic 
Insurance Company and the Slovenica Insurance House.  
2 See footnote 1. 
3 In the part relating to management of the First Pension Fund. 
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2.  LEGAL FRAMEWORK 

2.1. Insurance Act and the Implementing Regulations issued on the 
Basis thereof 

The basic act which regulates the issues related to establishment, operation, 
supervision and dissolution of insurance undertakings is the Insurance Act. This Act 
has introduced special rules applicable to insurance undertakings which are an 
important group of non-monetary financial institutions, while, at the same time, 
insurance undertakings as companies have to comply also with the legislation applying 
to the operation of companies in general. 
 
The Insurance Act was passed on 27 January 2000, amended for the first time in 2002 
and more extensively in 2004 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 102/04 – official 
consolidated text).  
 
In accordance with the Insurance Act, the Agency is authorised to issue regulations 
addressing the insurance area. Based on this provision, the Agency has prepared and 
adopted altogether 28 implementing regulations. As regards their contents, the 
implementing regulations may be divided into four major subgroups: 
 
The first subgroup comprises the implementing regulations laying down the detailed 
rules for meeting prudential standards. They stipulate: 
-  the detailed rules for calculating the insurance undertakings’ minimum capital; 
-  the detailed types and features of assets covering technical provisions; 
-  the detailed rules and minimum standards relating to calculation of technical 

provisions; 
-  the method of valuation of assets and liabilities of the insurance undertaking; 
-  the method of calculation of the liquidity ratios to be applied; 
-  the requirements for calculation of the adjusted solvency requirements of parent 

insurance undertakings; 
-  the method of calculating the insurance undertaking’s retention level in the 

tables of maximum coverage. 
 
The second subgroup lays down the detailed rules for reporting. The frequency of 
reporting depends on the type of report. An insurance undertaking is obliged to 
calculate, monitor and report to the Agency, on a quarterly basis, the amount of capital, 
capital requirements, capital adequacy, the amount of technical provisions, the value, 
types and spreading of assets covering technical provisions, the statistical insurance 
data, and according to the amended IA, also the balance sheet and income statement 
data. 
 
The implementing regulations laying down conditions for acquiring and examining the 
expertise required for performing the tasks of a certified actuary constitute the third 
subgroup. 
 
The fourth subgroup comprises the implementing regulations which lay down detailed 
conditions for acquiring and examining the expertise required in order to obtain the 
authorisation to transact the business of insurance agency and brokerage. 
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2.2. Other Laws of Particular Importance for the Operation of 
Insurance Undertakings 

Other laws which are of particular importance for the operation of insurance 
undertakings are: the Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (CMTLA), which 
among others regulates the compulsory motor vehicle liability insurance or coverage of 
the owner of the vehicle for damages caused to third persons; the Health Care and 
Health Insurance Act (hereinafter: the HCHIA–OCT2), which allows for supplementary 
health insurance operations to be performed by the insurance undertakings; and the 
Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (hereinafter: the PIIA1-OCT2), which regulates 
also the area of voluntary supplementary pension insurance.  

2.2.1.      Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (CMTLA) 

The Compulsory Motor Third-party Liability Act (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 35/05 – 
official consolidated text) regulates among others: accident insurance of passengers in 
public transport (except passengers in air transport), motor vehicle liability insurance or 
coverage of the owner of the motor vehicle, ship and aircraft for damages caused to 
third persons, and aircraft owner liability insurance for damages caused to passengers, 
baggage and freight. In the EU, this particular area is regulated by a special set of 
directives, which are incorporated into the CMTLA.  

2.2.2. Health Care and Health Insurance Act (HCHIA) 

In recent years, the question of how much public and private funds should be allocated 
to health care is becoming increasingly topical in Slovenia, as in all market economies. 
The Health Care and Health Insurance Act (HCHIA-OCT2) (Official Gazette of the RS, 
Nos. 100/05 – official consolidated text – and 38/06) sets the framework of the health 
care and the health insurance system. In 2005, amendments to the health care 
legislation were adopted, in particular in the part relating to supplementary health 
insurance, including among others the introduction of equalisation schemes. 
 
The health insurance consists of compulsory and voluntary insurance. The provider of 
the compulsory health insurance is the Health Insurance Institute of the Republic of 
Slovenia, while the voluntary health insurance operations may be performed by 
insurance companies holding the relevant authorisation. The HCHIA-OCT2 allows the 
insurance undertakings to perform four types of voluntary health insurance: 
supplementary, substitutional, additional and parallel health insurance. 

2.2.3. Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (the PIIA-1) 

The Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act (PIIA-OCT3) (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
104/05 – official consolidated text) regulates the compulsory pension and invalidity 
insurance system on the basis of intergenerational solidarity, and supplementary 
pension and invalidity insurance of persons covered under the compulsory insurance.  
The compulsory insurance provider is the Institute of Pension and Invalidity Insurance 
of Slovenia. The said act provides for compulsory supplementary insurance under the 
supplementary pension and invalidity insurance, provided by the compulsory 
supplementary insurance fund, which is managed by the Capital Fund of the pension 
and invalidity insurance, and on the other hand, it introduced tax relief for the voluntary 
insurance premium in 2000. The supplementary voluntary pension insurance 
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represents collecting of funds on personal accounts of persons insured under this form 
of insurance with the purpose of providing them, upon attaining a certain age or in 
other cases defined by the pension scheme (supplementary invalidity pension and 
supplementary survivor’s pension), with supplementary pensions or other rights. 
Pension schemes may be provided by pension funds or insurance undertakings 
holding the authorisation to perform life insurance operations in conformity with the IA. 
A pension fund may be established as a mutual pension fund or as a pension 
company. At all events, this act has a major impact on insurance undertakings’ 
operations since on the basis thereof the insurance undertakings may have various 
roles: as pension scheme providers; as founders of open-end and close-end mutual 
pension funds; and as managers of mutual pension funds and pension companies.  

3.  INSURANCE COMPANIES 

3.1.  Structure of the Insurance Market by Types and Classes of 
Insurance 

The gross insurance premiums written in 2005 amounted to SIT 345.4 billion, of which 
non-life premiums totalled SIT 191.6 billion or 55.5 %, voluntary health premiums SIT 
68.6 billion or 19.8 %, and life premiums SIT 85.2 billion or 24.7 %.  
 
In comparison with 2004, there was a 5.9 % rise in insurance business in real terms, 
measured by insurance premiums written (the average inflation rate in 2005 expressed 
by the average consumers' prices index was 2.5 %). The growth of the gross premium 
written recorded a 1.7 percentage point decline from the previous reference period. 
The most vigorous growth year-on-year was again posted in life assurance (the gross 
insurance premium written increased by 14.8 % in real terms). Also the non-life 
insurance had a prominent growth rate of 9.5 % in real terms, while voluntary health 
insurance recorded a 3 % real drop.  

 
The share of life insurance premiums in the total premium increased by 1.4 percentage 
points, while the share of non-life insurance increased by 0.5 percentage point. On the 
other hand, the share of insurance premiums collected in voluntary health insurance 
dropped by 1.9 percentage points. 
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Figure 1:  Movements in gross insurance premiums written in the 
period 2003-2005 by type of insurance (SIT billion) 

 
 

2005 85
Life 2004 74

insurance 
60 

192
  Non-life 

175
insurance 

156

Voluntary 68
health 69
insurance 69

2003 

 
Source: St-23 and St-50 Forms  
 
The comparison of non-life gross insurance premium collected by insurance classes 
shows that almost 88 % of non-life insurance premiums were collected in five 
insurance classes. These are: motor vehicle liability insurance, land motor vehicle 
insurance, accident insurance, other damage to property insurance, and fire and 
natural forces insurance. Of these, a nominal rise of market share in the reference 
period was recorded in land motor vehicle insurance (by 1.1 percentage points) and 
credit insurance (by 1.0 percentage point), while a nominal drop was recorded in 
accident insurance (by 0.9 percentage point), motor vehicle liability insurance (by 0.8 
%), other damage to property insurance (by 0.4 percentage points), and fire and 
natural forces insurance (by 0.3 percentage point). About 57 % of total non-life 
insurance premium was collected by motor vehicles insurance. Other important classes 
in terms of insurance premium written are accident insurance, which accounts for 12.2 
% of non-life premium, and fire and natural forces insurance and other damage to 
property insurance, which together represent 18.7 % of non-life premiums.  
 
When viewed over a somewhat longer timeframe, the most pronounced growth in 
market share was seen in land motor vehicle liability insurance – which represents also 
the biggest share of premiums written among all life-insurance classes – despite the 
decrease of share in comparison with 2004. In 2005, it represented a 38.2 % share in 
the total insurance premium – a 5.8 percentage points increase over the 32.4 % share 
in 2000.  
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Figure 2:  Non-life insurance premiums collected in the period 2003-2005, other 
than health insurance (SIT billion) 
 

 
 
Source: St-23 and St-50 Forms. 
 
Table 1:  Gross insurance premiums written and gross claims incurred in the 

period 2004-2005 by major insurance classes (SIT billion) 
 

2004 2005 

Insurance class 

Gross 
premium 
written 

(1) 

Gross claims 
incurred* 

(2) 
Share* 

(2/1) 

Gross 
premium 
written 

(1) 

Gross claims 
incurred* 

(2) 
Share* 

(2/1) 

Accident 22.9 14.3 0.62 23.4 12.3 0.53 

Land motor vehicle 30.8 25.6 0.83 35.9 25.7 0.72 

Goods in transit 1.5 0.5 0.33 1.5 0.5 0.33 

Fire and natural forces  16.2 8.4 0.52 17.3 7.5 0.43 

Other damage to property 17.6 12.7 0.72 18.6 13.0 0.70 

Motor vehicle liability  68.3 43.4 0.64 73.2 40.7 0.56 

General liability 7.6 6.3 0.83 8.6 7.1 0.83 

Credit  6.3 4.2 0.66 8.9 5.3 0.60 

Other non-life insurance 3.8 1.6 0.42 4.2 1.3 0.31 

TOTAL 175.0 117.0 0.67 191.6 113.4 0.59 
Voluntary health, 
sickness 69.0 60.1 0.87 68.6 63.7 0.93 

Life assurance 74.2 26.8 0.36 85.2 28.3 0.33 

TOTAL 318.3 203.9 0.64 345.4 205.4 0.59
* Not including claim assessment costs. 
** Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million 
Source: St-23, St-27 and St-50 Forms.  
 
Table 1 shows the share of gross claims incurred in gross insurance premium written in 
life insurance, health insurance and those classes of non-life insurance which are the 
major classes in this insurance group by insurance premium written. The comparison of 
gross insurance premiums written and gross claims incurred shows that the aggregate 
claims ratio improved in 2005 in comparison with the previous year. An improved 
claims ratio is seen in non-life and life insurance, while voluntary health insurance 
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shows a deterioration of the claims ratio. The claims ratio for non-life insurance went up 
by 8 percentage points, and for life insurance by 3 percentage points year-on-year. An 
increase in the claims ratio for life insurance is an indicator of growing premiums from 
life assurance, in spite of aging in this insurance portfolio, and a lower share of matured 
liabilities under life assurance contracts as compared to the previous year. The low 
claims ratio for life insurance can be attributed to the fact that those contracts are long-
term, concluded for a period of 10 years of more, with the majority of insurance 
contracts not yet matured. The claims ratio for voluntary health insurance declined by 6 
percentage points. 
 
An analysis of gross insurance premium written and gross claims incurred by classes 
of insurance reveals that the claims ratio improved in all non-life insurance classes, 
except in goods in transit insurance and general liability insurance, which remained at 
the previous year's level. The most pronounced improvement was scored in land motor 
vehicle insurance and other non-life insurance (by as much as 11 percentage points).  
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Figure 3:  Gross insurance premiums written and gross claims 
incurred in 2005 by insurance classes (SIT billion) 

 

Accident 

 
* Not including claim assessment costs. 
Source: St-23, St-27 and St-50 Forms.  
 
Table 2:  Gross insurance premiums written, number of persons covered and 

policies in the period 2004-2005 by life insurance classes (SIT billion) 
 

2004 2005 

 
Insurance class 

Number 
of 

policies 
 

Number of 
persons 
insured 

 

Gross 
insurance 
premiums  

 

Number 
of 

policies 
 

Number of 
persons 
insured 

 

Gross 
insurance 
premiums  

 
Life assurance (without 
other insurance classes 
in life assurance group) 601,827 716,862 56,945 595,937 729,508 58,147 
Marriage and birth 
assurance 2,329 2,332 176 2,284 2,289 188 
Life assurance linked to 
investment fund units or 
units of assets covering 
mathematical provisions 91,429 96,604 13,987 147,228 154,886 23,210 
Tontine 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Capital redemption 
insurance 38,612 38,612 3,533 39,623 39,623 3,632 
Insurance of loss of 
income due to accident 
or illness 0 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 734,197 854,410 74,641 785,072 926,306 85,177 
Source: St-19 Form. 
 

As at the end of 2005, the insurance undertakings had issued 785,072 policies for life 
insurance, covering 926,306 persons. In comparison with the previous year, the 
number of policies increased by 6.9 % and the number of insured persons covered by 
8.4 %, while the gross insurance premium written in life assurance increased by 14.1%.   
 
The largest share in the life assurance group was achieved by the life assurance class 
(Article 2(2), point 19, of the IA) with 63.6 % of gross insurance premium written and 
78.8 % of all policyholders in life assurance, while the highest share within this 
insurance class is held by the death and endowment insurance – mixed insurance 
(73.8 % of gross insurance premium written and 85.5 % of all persons insured, 
accounting for 91.4 % of all life assurance policies). The next largest – by the number 
of persons insured and total gross insurance premium written in the life assurance 
class – is the death insurance with 10.2 % and 5 % respectively, followed by annuity 
insurance covering 2.6 % or 3.2 % respectively.  
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The second largest in the life assurance group is life assurance linked to investment 
fund units or to units of assets covering mathematical provisions, accounting for 27.2 % 
of the total premium and 16.7 % of all insured persons in the life assurance group. This 
insurance class also recorded the highest jump year-on-year: the number of policies 
increased by 61 %, the number of insured persons by 60.3 % and the gross insurance 
premium written by 65.9 %.  
 
Supplementary accident insurance has been concluded for 439,315 life insurance 
policies, covering 500,943 persons. In comparison to 2004, the number of policies with 
the supplementary accident insurance increased by 2.3 %, while the number of 
policyholders increased by 1.1 %.  
 
Insurance and pension companies classify the voluntary pension insurance under the 
life insurance class – voluntary pension and invalidity insurance – or under life 
insurance linked to investment funds units or to units of assets covering mathematical 
provisions, or under the capital redemption insurance class. In 2005, the number of 
policies and the number of insured in the life insurance class – voluntary pension and 
invalidity insurance – fell by as much as 2.2 % in comparison with 2004, while the 
growth index for the number of policies and the number of the insured in capital 
redemption insurance under PIIA-1 notched 2.6 % year-on-year.  

3.2.   Structure of the Insurance Market by Shares 

In terms of market share there were no substantial changes from the positions held by 
insurance undertakings in 2004. The most pronounced growth of their respective 
market shares was recorded by the Generali Insurance Company (by 0.4 percentage 
point) and the NLB Vita, established at the end of 2002 (by 0.3 percentage point), while 
the highest fall in its market share was recorded by the Mutual Health Insurance, by 1.5 
percentage points. The Triglav Insurance Company again succeeded in maintaining 
the biggest market share (42.9 %) in 2005. The second largest is the Mutual Health 
Insurance with a 16 % market share. The third place in terms of gross insurance 
premium written goes to the merger – Adriatic Slovenica Insurance Company – with a 
13.9 % market share, followed closely by the Maribor Insurance Company with a 13.1 
% market share – a drop of 0.1 percentage point over the previous year. The combined 
market share of the four largest insurance companies in 2005 was 85.9 %.  
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Table 3:  Gross insurance premiums written and market shares in 
2005 
(SIT billion) 

 
2005 

Insurance company Non-life %* Health %* Life %* Total %* 
Adriatic Slovenica Insurance 
Company 32.1 16.8 13.2 19.3 2.7 3.2 48.0 13.9 

Arag Legal Insurance 0.0 0.0 / / / / 0.0 0.0 
Generali Insurance Company 4.2 2.2 / / 3.8 4.5 8.0 2.3 
Grawe Insurance Company 1.7 0.9 / / 5.2 6.1 6.9 2.0 
Krekova Insurance Company 0.0 0.0 / / / / 0.0 0.0 
Merkur Insurance Company 1.4 0.7 0.0 0.0 7.3 8.6 8.7 2.5 
NLB Vita 0.3 0.2 / / 6.0 7.0 6.3 1.8 

Prva kreditna Insurance Company 2.2 1.1 / / / / 2.2 0.6 
Slovenica Življenje Insurance 
Company / / / / 5.0 5.9 5.0 1.4 
Triglav Health Insurance Company / / 0.2 0.3 / / 0.2 0.1 
Maribor Insurance Company 34.1 17.8 / / 11.1 13.0 45.2 13.1 
Tilia Insurance Company 10.2 5.3 / / 1.5 1.8 11.7 3.4 
Triglav Insurance Company 105.4 55.0 / / 42.6 50.0 148.0 42.9 
Mutual Health Insurance / / 55.2 80.4 / / 55.2 16.0 
TOTAL 191.6 100 68.6 100 85.2 100 345.4 100 

* Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million. 
Source: St-23 Form. 
 
As regards non-life insurance, other than health insurance, the Triglav Insurance 
Company retained its strong leading position in the market. Although its market share 
fell by as much as 1.7 percentage points, it still holds 55 % of the market. The second 
largest is the Maribor Insurance Company with a 17.8 % share, while the third place is 
held by the Adriatic Slovenica Insurance Company with a 16.8 % market share. 

 
In life assurance, again, the major market share (50 %) is still held by the Triglav 
Insurance Company, followed by the Maribor Insurance Company with a 13 %, the 
Merkur Insurance Company with an 8.6 % and, as the fourth, the fast-growing NLB Vita 
Insurance Company, with a 7 % market share. The most prominent growth in terms of 
premiums written in life assurance was recorded in particular by the NLB Vita 
Insurance Company (by 0.9 percentage points) and the Generali Insurance Company 
(by 0.7 percentage point). On the other hand, the highest fall in their market shares in 
life assurance was recorded by the Maribor Insurance Company, going down by 1.9 
percentage points, and by the Triglav Insurance Company, losing 1.1 percentage 
points of the market.   

 
As much as 99.7 % of the voluntary health insurance market is shared between the 
Mutual Health Insurance and Adriatic Slovenica Insurance Company. The share of the 
latter increased in 2005 at the expense of a decrease in the respective share of the 
former. Thus in 2005 the Health Insurance Mutual held 80.4 % of the market (0.6 
percentage point less than in 2004), the Adriatic Slovenica Insurance Company 19.3 % 
and the Triglav Health Insurance 0.3 % of the health insurance market.  
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3.3.  EU Member States Insurance Undertakings, Directly performing 
Insurance Operations in Slovenia, and Comparison with Other 
Countries  

The number of insurance undertakings with their registered offices in the territory of the 
EU Member States, being authorised to directly perform insurance operations (cross-
border) in the Republic of Slovenia, totalled 201 in 2005. The majority of them have 
their registered offices in Great Britain (45 insurance undertakings or 22.4 % of all EU 
Member States insurance undertakings, directly performing insurance operations in 
Slovenia), in Ireland (25 insurance undertakings), in Austria (19 insurance 
undertakings), Italy (17 insurance undertakings), Germany (16 insurance 
undertakings), Luxembourg (12 insurance undertakings), France (10 insurance 
undertakings). The number of insurance undertakings, established in other Member 
States, i.e. Belgium, the Netherlands, Sweden, Finland, Hungary, the Czech Republic, 
Denmark, the Slovak Republic, Gibraltar, Liechtenstein, Poland, Estonia, Latvia, 
Lithuania, Malta and Spain, and directly performing insurance business in Slovenia, is 
less than 10 per country. There are also two branches of the EU Member State 
insurance undertakings performing insurance business in Slovenia4. 
 
The data on the total premium collected under insurance contracts concluded in 2005 
by EU Member States insurance undertakings, directly performing insurance 
operations in Slovenia, are not yet available. The total premiums from such insurance 
in 2004 amounted to EUR 1,659.3 thousand and the total claims to EUR 576 thousand. 
The major share of premiums was collected by insurance undertakings from Great 
Britain (85.7 %), Luxembourg (6.9 %), Austria, Netherlands, Germany, Norway and 
Italy. The total premium collected by the branches of the EU Member States insurance 
undertakings totalled EUR 1.7 thousand. 
 
In 2005, the Slovenian insurance undertakings did not conclude any insurance contract 
in any EU Member State.  
 
Compared to other European countries, Slovenia is a medium developed insurance 
market5. By the share of gross insurance premiums in the GNP it is at the same level 
with Malta, ahead of the Czech Republic, Estonia, Greece, Lithuania, Luxembourg, 
Hungary, Poland and the Slovak Republic, but lagging behind the other EU Member 
States. The same goes for premium income per capita. The share of life insurance 
premiums in the total premium, i.e. 29.4 %, is significantly lower than in comparable 
countries, since all other countries, except Estonia and Lithuania, manage to obtain a 
share higher by even one half and more. The reason for such dissimilarity lies mainly in 
the large share of social insurance, low public knowledge of life assurance products 
offered, combined with the low awareness of the need for such insurance cover, and 
the underdeveloped life assurance market. 
 

                                                 
4 i.e. Wiener Städtische Allgemeine Versicherung AG and Victoria – Volksbanken Versicherungs 
AG. 
5 The most recent available data refer to 2004. 
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Table 4:  Insurance premium volume in Slovenia and other 
countries in 2004 

 

Country Total premium 
volume 

(USD million) 

Share of total 
insurance 

premium in GNP 
(%) 

Total insurance 
premium per  
capita (USD) 

Share of life 
insurance 

premium in the 
total insurance 
premium (%) 

Austria (AT) 17,395 5.95 2,160 44.2 

Belgium (BE) 38,853 9.62 3,276 62.1 
Czech Republic (CZ) 4,393 4.15 431 39.2 
Denmark (DK) 19,512 8.07 3,620 63.8 
Estonia (EE)  252 2.29 188 25.4 
Finland (FI) 16,330 8.77 3,134 78.5 
France (FR) 194,624 9.52 3,207 66.2 
Greece (GR) 4,323 2.10 402 44.3 
Ireland (IE) 27,882 8.97 4,091 68.4 
Italy (IT) 128,811 7.60 2,218 63.7 
Lithuania (LT)  329 1.48 96 25.7 
Luxembourg (LU) 9,535 3.64 2,563 86.0 
Hungary (HU)  2,887 2.83 287 40.8 
Malta (MT)  292 5.61 729 50.5 
Germany (DE) 190,797 6.97 2,287 44.3 
Netherlands (NL) 58,577 10.10 3,600 53.8 
Poland (PL) 7,431 3.07 193 38.0 
Portugal (PT) 13,174 7.85 1,294 59.4 
Slovakia (SK) 1,488 3.61 276 40.5 
Slovenia (SI) 1,809 5.61 920 29.4 
Spain (ES) 55,903 5.63 1,355 42.2 
Sweden (SE) 24,075 6.96 2,690 65.6 
United Kingdom (UK) 294,831 12.60 4,508 64.3 
EU (25)* 1,114,408 8.32 2,324 59.0 

* All EU Member States, including Liechtenstein and Latvia. 
Source: Sigma 2/2005. 
 
Figure 4:  Insurance premiums in GNP (%) by EU Member States in 2004 
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Figure 5:  Growth of gross premiums written from 2004 to 2005 (%) 
 

 
Source: CEIOPS - Spring 2006 Report on Financial Condition and Financial Stability in the European Insurance and 
Occupational Pension Fund Sector 2004-2005 
 
Most countries reported a continued premium growth in the life insurance sector in 
2005. In the non-life sector, premium growth is generally more moderate or, in some 
countries, even negative. In line with the data submitted to the Committee of European 
Insurance and Occupational Pensions Supervisors (CEIOPS) by 17 countries, the 
weighted average gross premiums in life insurance enterprises increased by 9.0 % in 
2005, while the corresponding growth for non-life insurance was only 0.5 %.  

3.4.   Income Statements 

The review of income statements for 2005 covers unaudited income statements, 
separately for insurance and reinsurance undertakings. Insurance undertakings 
prepared their statements in accordance with the implementing regulations issued by 
the Agency (Decision on the framework chart of accounts for insurance undertakings, 
Decision on annual report of insurance undertakings, Decision on detailed method of 
valuation of accounting items and compiling financial statements) and by applying the 
methodology of the Slovenian Accounting Standards. 
 
The Decision on the annual report of insurance undertakings lays down detailed 
contents of the annual report, which should consist of the required financial statements 
(balance sheet, income statement, indirect cash flow statement, statement of changes 
in equity capital, including statement of distribution of balance-sheet profit and 
coverage of balance-sheet loss), notes to the financial statements and business report. 

3.4.1.  Income Statements of Insurance Undertakings 

The income statement of an insurance undertaking shows revenues, expenditure and 
the operating result for the financial year concerned, separately for non-life, life and 
health insurance.  
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Table 5:  Summary income statement of the insurance undertakings 
for 2004 and 2005 (SIT billion) 
 

  D. INCOME STATEMENT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 2004 2005 

I. 
Profit or loss from non-life insurance, other than health insurance 
(A.X) 4.3 11.4 

II. Profit or loss from life insurance operations (B.XIII) 2.8 3.4 

III. Profit or loss from health insurance operations (C.XIII) -2.1 -2.1 

IV. Investment revenue 21.1 18.7 

V. 
Investment gains transferred from income statement of life 
insurance operations (B.XII) 0.2 0.1 

VI. 
Investment gains transferred from income statement of health 
insurance operations (C.XII) 0.3 0.3 

VII. Investment expenses 4.1 4.5 

VIII. 
Investment gains transferred to the income statement of non-life 
insurance operations (A.II) 16.1 15.6 

IX. Other revenue from ordinary activities 0.4 0.6 

X. Other expenses from ordinary activities 2.1 2.4 

XII. 
Net profit or loss from ordinary activities 
(Č.I+Č.II+Č.III+Č.IV+Č.V+Č.VI-Č.VII-Č.VIII+Č.IX-Č.X) 4.7 9.9 

  
E. INCOME STATEMENT FROM EXTRAORDINARY 
OPERATIONS   

I. Extraordinary revenue 0.5 1.1 

II. Extraordinary expenses 0.2 0.1 

III. Profit or loss from extraordinary activities 0.3 1.0 

  F. INCOME TAX ON EXTRAORDINARY ACTIVITIES 1.6 6.0 

  G. OTHER TAXES NOT DISCLOSED UNDER OTHER ITEMS 0.1 -4.1 

  
H. NET PROFIT OR NET LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
(D.XII+E.III – F) 3.3 9.0 

Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2004 and unaudited income statements of insurance 
companies for 2005 
 
For the financial year 2005, insurance undertakings posted an aggregate net profit in 
the amount of SIT 9 billion, while in 2004 net profit totalled SIT 3.3 billion. They 
achieved a positive technical account in life and non-life insurance, while health 
insurance recorded a negative technical account.   
 
Five insurance undertakings showed net loss in 2005 totalling SIT 3.6 billion, 73.2 % of 
which was made by the insurance undertaking with the highest loss. Also in 2004 five 
insurance undertakings showed a net loss in the aggregate amount of SIT 3.1 billion.  
 
Table 6:  Summary income statement for non-life insurance operations, other than 

health and life insurance, for 2004 and 2005 (SIT billion) 
 

 

  

A. INCOME STATEMENTS FOR NON-LIFE INSURANCE, OTHER 
THAN LIFE AND HEALTH 

2004 2005 

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 137.0 153.6 

II. 
Investment gains transferred from income statement from ordinary 
activities 16.1 15.6 

III. Other net revenue from insurance operations 1.1 1.5 
IV. Net expenses for damages paid 109.2 114.5 

V. Change in net other technical provisions  (+/-) -0.4 -0.5 
VI. Net expenses for bonuses and discounts 2.2 2.5 
VII. Net operating expenses 35.7 39.4 

VIII. Other net insurance expenses 5.2 6.8 
IX. Change in equalisation provision (+/-) 2.8 4.3 

X. Profit or loss from non-life insurance  (I+II+III-IV+/-V-VI-VII-VIII+/-IX) 4.3 11.4 
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Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2004 and unaudited income statements of insurance 
companies for 2005. 
 
Net insurance premium from non-life insurance, other than life and health insurance, 
earned in 2005, grew by 12.1 %, while net claims incurred went up by 4.9 %, net 
operating expenses by 10.4 % and other net insurance expenses by 30.8 %. As a 
result, insurance undertakings recorded a positive technical account from non-life 
insurance, which is by as much as 165 % better than in the previous year.  
 
Table 7:  Summary income statement from life insurance for 2004 and 2005 

(SIT billion) 
 

  B. INCOME STATEMENT FROM LIFE INSURANCE 2004 2005 

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 72.4 82.6 

II. Investment revenue 15.8 17.9 

III. 
Net unrealised profits from investments for the benefit of holders of 
life insurance policies that have assumed the investment risk 1.3 2.2 

IV. Other net revenue from insurance operations 3.0 4.7 

V. Net expenses for damages paid 27.5 28.7 

VI. Changes in other net technical provisions  (+/-) -41.9 -48.8 

VIII. Net operating expenses 15.8 18.8 

IX. Investment expenses 1.3 2.1 

X. 
Net unrealised losses from investments for life-assurance policies 
where the investment risk is borne by the policyholders 0.0 0.8 

X1. Other net insurance expenses 3.0 4.7 

XII. 
Investment gains transferred to the income statement from ordinary 
activities (-) 0.2 0.1 

XIII. 
Profit or loss from life insurance operations  (I+II+III+IV-V+/-VI-VII-
VIII-IX-XI-XII) 2.8 3.4 

Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2004 and unaudited income statements of insurance 
companies for 2005. 
 
In comparison with the figures posted in 2004, net revenues from insurance premiums 
for life insurance in 2005 grew by 14.1 %, net expenses for damages paid by 4.4 %, 
net operating expenses by 19 %, changes in other net technical provisions by 16.5 %, 
other net insurance expenses by 56.7 % and investment revenue by 13.3 %, which 
explains the result of SIT 3.4 billion – 21.4 % more than in the previous year.  
 
Table 8:  Summary income statement from health insurance for 2004 and 2005 (SIT 

billion) 
 

  C. INCOME STATEMENT FROM HEALTH INSURANCE 2004 2005 

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 69.7 70.5 

II. Investment revenue 2.3 2.0 

IV. Other net revenue from insurance operations 0.1 0.0 

V. Net expenses for damages paid 60.2 63.7 

VI. Changes in other net technical provisions  (+/-) -4.4 1.0 

VII. Net expenses for bonuses and discounts 0.0 0.2 

VIII. Net operating expenses 8.3 10.4 

IX. Investment expenses 0.1 0.3 

X1. Other net insurance expenses 0.9 0.7 

XII. 
Investment gains transferred to the income statement from ordinary 
activities (-) 0.3 0.3 

XIII. Profit or loss from health assurance  (I+II+IV-V+/-VI-VIII-IX-XI-XII) -2.1 -2.1 
Source: Audited income statements of insurance companies for 2004 and unaudited income statements of insurance 
companies for 2005. 
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The technical account of health insurance in 2005 remained roughly the same as in the 
previous year – in both years it posted a loss in the amount of SIT 2.1 billion. This red 
figure mostly reflects unfavourable ratios between net revenues from insurance 
premium and net expenses for damages paid and operating expenses. Namely, net 
revenues from insurance premiums in 2005 against the previous year grew by 1.1 %, 
while net expenses for damages paid increased by 5.8 % and net operating expenses 
even by 25.3 %. Also investment revenues fell slightly, while investment expenses 
increased. On the other hand, the technical account was improved by the change in net 
other technical provisions. 

3.4.2.  Income Statements of Reinsurance Undertakings 

Both reinsurance undertakings generated a positive result in the amount of SIT 2.3 
billion in 2005. The net operating result remained almost unchanged compared to the 
previous year, while the technical account was even higher year-on-year totalling SIT 
2.6 billion (a rise of SIT 0.5 billion over 2004). Net expenses for damages paid jumped 
by 21.8 % in 2005, while net revenue from insurance premiums rose by 15.1 %; the 
technical account was further improved by the change (decrease) in the equalisation 
provision.  
 
Table 9:  Summary income statement of the reinsurance undertakings for 2004 and 

2005 (SIT billion) 
 

  

A. INCOME STATEMENTS FROM NON-LIFE INSURANCE, 
OTHER THAN LIFE AND HEALTH 

2004 2005 

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 21.8 25.1 

II. 
Investment gains transferred from income statement from ordinary 
activities 2.1 2.1 

IV. Net expenses for damages paid 14.2 17.3 

V. Change in net other technical provisions  (+/-) -0.0 -0.0 

VII. Net operating expenses 7.1 7.5 

VIII. Other net insurance expenses 0.0 0.0 
IX. Change in equalisation provision (+/-) -0.5 0.2 

X. Profit or loss from non-life insurance  (I+II-IV+/-V-VII-VIII+/-IX) 2.1 2.6 

  D. INCOME STATEMENT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES   

I. 
Profit or loss from non-life insurance, other than health insurance 
(A.X) 2.1 2.6 

IV. Investment revenue 3.4 3.5 
VII. Investment expenses 0.6 0.7 

VIII. 
Investment gains transferred to the income statement of non-life 
insurance operations (A.II) 2.1 2.1 

IX. Other revenue from ordinary activities 0.0 0.0 
X. Other expenses from ordinary activities 0.0 0.2 

XII. 
Net profit or loss from ordinary activities (Č.I+Č.IV-Č.VII-
Č.VIII+Č.IX-Č.X) 2.8 3.1 

  
E. INCOME STATEMENT FROM EXTRAORDINARY 
OPERATIONS   

I. Extraordinary revenue 0.0 0.1 

II. Extraordinary expenses 0.0 0.0 

III. Profit or loss from extraordinary activities 0.0 0.1 

  F. INCOME TAX ON EXTRAORDINARY ACTIVITIES 0.7 0.9 

  G. OTHER TAXES NOT DISCLOSED UNDER OTHER ITEMS 2.2 0.0 

  
H. NET PROFIT OR NET LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
(D.XII+E.III – F – G) 2.2 2.3 

Source: Unaudited income statements of reinsurance companies for 2004 and 2005. 
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3.5.       Balance Sheets 

3.5.1. Balance Sheets of Insurance Undertakings 

The summary balance sheet as at 31 December 2004 and 31 December 2005 covers 
all three types of insurance: non-life, life and health, although insurance undertakings 
were obliged to compile for both years separate balance sheets for non-life and life 
insurance in accordance with the Decision on the annual report and quarterly financial 
statements of insurance undertakings – SKL 2002. 
 
Table 10:  Summary balance sheet of insurance undertakings as at 31 December 

2004 and 31 December 2005 (SIT billion) 
 

Life assurance Non-life insurance Consolidated balance sheet  

2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 Index 
05/04* 

  ASSETS 267.4 330.9 345.7 376.2 613.1 707.1 115 
A  Intangible fixed assets 0.4 1.0 3.2 3.3 3.7 4.3 118 

B 

Investments in land and 
buildings and other 
investments 242.9 284.6 278.4 306.3 521.2 591.0 113 

 – Of which other investments 234.5 270.8 213.6 242.8 448.2 513.6 115 

C 

Investments for the benefit 
of holders of life insurance 
policies that have assumed 
the investment risk 14.6 33.6 0 0 14.6 33.6 231 

D Receivables; of which: 2.7 3.7 51.7 54.6 54.4 58.3 107 

 
– receivables arising from 
direct insurance operations 1.1 1.1 30.1 33.0 31.2 34.1 109 

 
– receivables arising from 
reinsurance operations 0.2 0.4 7.7 5.2 7.9 5.6 71 

E Diverse assets 0.7 1.0 7.9 6.4 8.6 7.5 87 

F 
Deferred costs and accrued 
revenue 6.1 6.9 4.5 5.5 10.6 12.5 117 

  LIABILITIES 267.4 330.9 345.7 376.2 613.1 707.1 115 
A  Capital; of which:  28.0 38.0 71.7 70.2 99.6 108.2 109 
 – Called capital 8.9 11.7 33.1 27.2 42.0 38.9 93 

 
- Specific capital revaluation 
adjustment 15.0 16.3 21.6 20.3 36.5 36.6 100 

 – Profit reserves 2.8 4.0 10.9 8.5 13.8 12.5 91 
B Subordinated liabilities 1.4 2.6 10.0 8.9 11.4 11.5 101 
C Net technical provisions 212.5 243.2 237.8 261.9 450.3 505.1 112 

D 

Net technical provisions for 
the benefit of holders of life 
assurance policies that have 
assumed the investment 
risk  14.5 32.3 0 0 14.5 32.3 223 

E 
Other provisions (for other 
risks and charges) 1.6 1.1 0.2 0.4 1.8 1.5 81 

F 

Liabilities for investments of 
reinsurers under 
reinsurance contracts with 
ceding undertakings 2.8 4.1 0.7 0.9 3.5 5.0 145 

G – Other liabilities;  of which 5.2 8.0 24.0 32.6 29.3 40.6 139 

 
– Liabilities from direct 
insurance operations 1.5 2.2 8.7 9.9 10.1 12.1 120 

 
–. Liabilities from reinsurance 
operations 0.1 0.2 5.7 5.8 5.8 6.0 103 

H 
Accrued cost and deferred 
revenue 1.4 1.6 1.3 1.3 2.7 2.9 106 

* Data used in calculation of indexes expressed in SIT million  
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Source: Audited balance sheets of insurance industry as of 31 December 2004 and unaudited balance sheets of 
insurance industry as at 31 December 2005. 
 
 
In 2005, the insurance undertakings increased their balance sheet total by SIT 94 
billion or 15 % in comparison with the previous year. By far the most flourishing growth 
on the assets side was that of investments for the benefit of holders of life insurance 
policies that have assumed the investment risk (by 131 %), followed by intangible fixed 
assets (by 18 %) and deferred costs and accrued revenue (by 17 %). A considerable 
increase was recorded also in investments in land and buildings and other investments, 
which grew by 13 % in 2005, mainly on account of other investments. Receivables 
notched a 7 % rise, mainly due to rise in other receivables (by 22 %) and receivables 
arising from direct insurance operations (by 7 %), while receivables arising from 
coinsurance and reinsurance decreased (by 29 %). Also diverse assets show a decline 
(by 13 %).  
 
The liabilities side reveals a rise of SIT 8.6 billion in capital, which is a rise of 9 %. This 
rise can be mostly attributed to the effect of the undistributed profit for the financial 
year, which increased by as much as SIT 4.9 billion or 186 %, and the capital surplus, 
which rose by SIT 0.5 billion or 6 % against the previous year. Net technical provisions 
swelled by 12 %, net technical provisions for the benefit of holders of life assurance 
policies that have assumed the investment risk by 123 %, and liabilities for investments 
of reinsurers under reinsurance contracts with ceding undertakings by 45 %. A rise was 
recorded also in other liabilities – by 39 % – mainly on account of an increase in other 
short-term liabilities (by 70 %) and in liabilities from direct insurance operations (by 20 
%). 
 
An interesting outcome is gained also by comparison of the balance sheet total and 
individual balance sheet items in non-life and life insurance. 
 
The balance sheet total for life insurance as at 31 December 2005 already accounts for 
46.8 % of the balance sheet total for the entire insurance industry, up 3.2 percentage 
points from 2004. This share significantly exceeds the share of gross premiums written 
for life insurance in the total gross premiums written, which was 24.7 % for 2005.  
 
Such a high balance sheet total for life assurance mostly reflects its dynamic 
investment activity. In the case of life insurance, investments amounted to SIT 314.4 
billion and already accounted for 94.9 % of the balance sheet total for life insurance, 
while for non-life insurance they amounted to only SIT 286.7 billion or 76.2 % of the 
balance sheet total. However, investments in land and buildings used in insurance 
operations show quite an opposite picture. The major chunk of these investments is 
financed from non-life insurance, where they represent 5.2 % of the balance sheet 
total, while in life insurance they stand at a mere 1.4 % of the balance sheet total. 
 
The relations between the life and non-life assets reflect the corresponding relations on 
the liabilities side of balance sheets of the insurance undertakings. Net technical 
provisions represent 66.6 % of the balance sheet total in the case of non-life insurance, 
and as much as 83.3 % of the balance sheet total in the case of life insurance. There is 
a reverse situation with the share of capital in the overall liabilities – in non-life 
insurance it notched 18.7 %, while with life insurance it stood at a mere 11.5 %. Among 
others indicators, it proves that the major part of investments in land and buildings used 
in insurance operations is financed from capital deriving from non-life insurance.    
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3.5.2. Balance Sheets of Reinsurance Undertakings 

Table 11:  Summary balance sheet of reinsurance undertakings as at 31 December 
2004 and 31 December 2005 (SIT billion) 

 
   

2004 
 

2005 
 

Index 05/04* 

  ASSETS 73.8 75.2 102 
A. Intangible fixed assets 0.0 0.0 / 

B. 
Investments in land and buildings and other 
investments 56.6 61.5 109 

 – Of which other investments 46.4 49.0 106 
D. Receivables 14.6 11.4 78 

 
– of which: Receivables arising from reinsurance 
operations 13.6 10.7 79 

E. Diverse assets 0.2 0.1 50 

F. Deferred costs and accrued revenue 2.3 2.2 96 
  LIABILITIES 73.8 75.2 102 

A. Capital; of which:  20.3 23.5 116 
 – Called capital 8.6 8.6 100 
 – Profit reserves 7.1 7.9 111 
C. Net technical provisions 37.3 40.3 108 
G. Other liabilities 16.0 11.1 69 
 – of which: Liabilities from reinsurance operations 13.3 9.3 70 

H. Accrued cost and deferred revenue 0.2 0.3 150 
*Data used in calculation of indexes expressed in SIT million. 
Source: Unaudited balance sheets of reinsurance industry as at 31 December 2004 and 31 December 2005. 
 
The growth in the balance sheet total of reinsurance undertakings was lagging behind 
that of insurance undertakings. The growth was chiefly underpinned by investments in 
enterprises in the group and in associates (by 23.2 %), other financial investments (by 
5.6 %) and investments arising from reinsurance contracts with ceding undertakings 
(by 40.5 %). On the other hand, there was a significant decrease under receivables (by 
22 %) and diverse assets of reinsurance undertakings (by 45.2 %).  
 
On the liabilities side the capital increased, mostly as a result of a 236.4 % increase in 
the retained net profit from previous periods, a 48.7 % increase of a specific capital 
revaluation adjustment and an 11 % increase of profit reserves. Net technical 
provisions posted a rise of 8 % and accounted for 53.6 % of total liabilities as at the 
end of 2005. Other liabilities shrank by 31 %, mainly due to decrease in liabilities from 
reinsurance operations.  
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3.6.    Performance Indicators 

The table below shows several major performance indicators. 
 
Table 12:  Performance indicators for insurance and reinsurance industry 
 

Insurance 
undertakings 

Reinsurance 
undertakings 

  2004 2005 2004 2005 
Net claims incurred in net earned premiums – NON-LIFE 
INSURANCE 80% 75% 65% 69% 
Net claims incurred in net earned premiums – LIFE INSURANCE 38% 35% / / 
Net claims incurred in net earned premiums – HEALTH 
INSURANCE 86% 90% / / 
Share of operating expenses in gross premiums written – NON-
LIFE INSURANCE 20% 21% 19% 20% 
Share of operating expenses in gross premiums written – LIFE 
INSURANCE 21% 22% / / 
Share of operating expenses in gross premiums written – 
HEALTH INSURANCE 12% 15% / / 
Investment ratio or share of technical provisions covered by 
investments of assets covering mathematical provisions* 112% 112% / / 
Investment ratio or share of all technical provisions covered by 
investments* 111% 111% 106% 104% 
Equity financing rate 16% 15% 28% 31% 
Net return on equity 3% 8% 12% 10% 
Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written – NON-
LIFE INSURANCE 83% 83% 65% 66% 
Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written – LIFE 
INSURANCE 98% 98% 28% 26% 
Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written – 
HEALTH INSURANCE 100% 100% / / 

*Investments include also interest on certain investments and a part of receivables for premiums (Decision amending 
the Decision on types and features of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical 
provisions, and detailed rules relating to spreading and limiting of assets covering technical provisions and assets 
covering mathematical provisions, as well as the method and time limits for reporting (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
109/2002, application as of 14 December 2002). 
Source: St- 43 and St- 55 Forms, audited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance industry as of 31 December 
2004 and unaudited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance industry as of 31 December 2005; audited income 
statements of insurance and reinsurance undertakings for 2004 and unaudited income statements of insurance and 
reinsurance undertakings for 2005. 
 
The ratio of net claims incurred against net insurance premiums earned in non-life and 
life insurance for insurance undertakings slightly improved in comparison with the 
previous year, in non-life insurance mostly on account of the improved claims ratio, 
while in life insurance it can be attributed to the vigorous growth of the volume of life 
insurance premiums. However, in health insurance the above ratio slightly deteriorated 
year-on-year, which is the result of the almost unchanged premium in the last two 
years. This ratio also somewhat deteriorated for reinsurance undertaking – by 4 
percentage points. 
 
The share of operating expenses in premiums written in non-life and life insurance 
went up by 1 percentage point, while in health insurance it increased by 3 percentage 
points. The above-mentioned share rose also in the case of reinsurance undertakings – 
by 1 percentage point.  
 
The investment ratio or share of technical provisions covered by assets shows the 
value of investments from provisions against provisions set aside. The share of 
technical provisions covered by assets must be at least 100 %. In 2005, the investment 
ratio of technical provisions covered by investments of assets covering mathematical 
provisions was 112 %, which is the same as in 2004. The investment ratio, or share of 

 20



all technical provisions covered by investments, for insurance undertakings was 111 %, 
which is also the same as in 2004. The above-mentioned ratio for reinsurance 
undertakings in 2005 was 104 % (down two percentage points from 2004).  
 
The equity financing rate shows the share of own capital participation in the overall 
financing. For insurance undertakings this rate fell by 1 percentage point, that is to 15 
%. The underlying reason for this downfall is a significantly more vigorous growth of 
technical provisions and other liabilities than that of capital. For reinsurance 
undertakings this rate increased by 3 percentage points, to 31 %, which stems from the 
increased specific capital revaluation adjustment, increased net retained profit from the 
previous periods and from the rise in profit reserves.  
 
The net equity ratio is calculated as the ratio between the net profit and the average 
capital. In 2005, it amounted to 8 % for insurance undertakings and was thus by 5 
percentage points higher against the previous year. This higher value was the result of 
higher capital (by 9 %) combined with a prominent increase in net profit (by 173 %) in 
2005. However, this indicator went down for reinsurance undertakings by 2 percentage 
points and ended at 10 %, resulting from the higher increase in capital (by 15 %) than 
in net profit (by 5 %). 
 
The share of net insurance premium in gross premium written for insurance 
undertakings (i.e. the retention level) remained roughly the same in all insurance 
groups year-on-year. The share remained approximately equal also for reinsurance 
undertakings (up 1 percentage point for non-life insurance and down 2 percentage 
points for life insurance).  

3.7.    Technical Provisions 

Technical provisions are set aside by insurance and reinsurance undertakings in 
compliance with the Decision on detailed rules and minimum standards relating to the 
calculation of technical provisions (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 3/01 and 69/01). 

 21



Figure 6:  Developments in net technical provisions of the insurance undertakings 
in the period 2001-2005 (SIT billion as at 31 December) 
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Source: St-55 Forms.  
 
Figure 7:  Developments in net technical provisions of the reinsurance undertakings 

in the period 2001-2005 (SIT billion as at 31 December) 
 

 
Source: St-55 Forms.  
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insurance undertakings was SIT 537.4 billion, which was 16 % more than in the 
previous year. The technical provisions created by reinsurance undertakings amounted 
to SIT 37.3 million as at 31 December 2005, which is an 8 % increase over the 
previous year.  
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changes over the duration of the contract. These provisions for unearned premiums are 
reduced by acquisition costs. In comparison with the previous year, the provisions for 
unearned premiums set aside by insurance undertakings increased by 4 % and those 
set aside by reinsurance undertakings by 3.6 %.  
  
The mathematical provisions are set aside in the amount of the present assessed value 
of future obligations of the insurance undertaking arising from insurance contracts 
reduced by the present assessed value of future premiums to be paid on the basis of 
those contracts. The net mathematical provisions of insurance undertakings 
underwriting life assurance policies in 2005 went up by 13 % year-on-year. The 
reinsurance undertakings did not set aside mathematical provisions because they do 
not conclude long-term contracts for which such provisions must be set aside.  
 
Provisions for claims outstanding are set aside by insurance and reinsurance 
undertakings for reported and unsettled claims – which are in principle calculated 
separately for each claim – and for incurred but not yet reported claims or not fully 
reported claims. The amount of provisions for claims incurred but not reported or not 
fully reported claims, is determined on the basis of past experience, i.e. the number of 
claims and the average credited damages arising from claims reported in the 
accounting year, and the future development as can reasonably be foreseen. The 
claims outstanding include, in addition to the estimated damages, also the estimated 
claim settlement costs. In 2005, the amount of net provisions for claims outstanding set 
aside by insurance undertakings increased by 20 % against the previous year, while 
the amount set aside by reinsurance undertakings rose by 16.5 %. 
  
The net provisions for bonuses and discounts reserved by insurance undertakings 
increased by 15 % against the previous year, while those reserved by reinsurance 
undertakings swelled by as much as 492.4 %.  
 
The equalisation provisions of insurance undertakings in the aggregate decreased from 
SIT 25.9 billion in 2004 to SIT 23.5 billion in 2005, while in reinsurance undertakings 
they fell from SIT 8.6 to SIT 8.4 billion, as a result of amendments to the existing law.   
Namely, the Act amending the Insurance Act (IA-A) of 2002 abolished the compulsory 
creating of equalisation provision in certain insurance classes and provided for their 
gradual reduction over the period of five years. This is reflected in the lower amount 
under the equalisation provision item in the balance sheet and at the same time in the 
higher profit and loss account of insurance undertakings.   
  
As at 31 December 2005, net technical provisions for the benefit of holders of life 
insurance policies that have assumed the investment risk amounted to SIT 32.3 billion, 
which is as much as a 123 % jump year-on-year. This jump resulted from a significant 
increase in the number of life insurance policies where the investment risk is borne by 
the policyholder. Up to 2003 the amount of those provisions was negligible (in 2002 
they totalled a meagre SIT 211 million). But in 2005, the number of life insurance 
contracts where the investment risk is borne by the policyholder had already increased 
to 154,886, which is 58.282 more than in the previous year. 
 
Net other technical provisions are allocated by insurance and reinsurance undertakings 
with regard to the anticipated future obligations and risks of major damages arising e.g. 
from insurance covering nuclear damage liability and pharmaceuticals producers' 
liability, earthquake as well as other obligations and risks. The net other technical 
provisions created by insurance undertakings in 2005 increased by 11 %, while those 
set aside by reinsurance undertakings remained at approximately the same level.  
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The majority of reports of the appointed actuaries express a positive opinion on 
allocated technical provisions. In a couple of cases the appointed actuary warned 
the management of the insurance undertaking of irregularities in the IT system 
records, increased risk of reinvestment due to unfavourable trends in the capital 
market and that the insurance premiums and income in certain insurance 
classes were insufficient to cover the liabilities under the insurance contracts.  
 
3.8.   Investments of Assets covering Technical Provisions and Assets 

covering Mathematical Provisions 
 
In recent years, financial investments of insurance undertakings have been showing 
flourishing growth rates. As at 31 December 2005, investments of insurance 
undertakings’ assets covering technical provisions – a part of which are also 
investments of assets covering mathematical provisions to be formed by insurance 
undertakings pursuant to the relevant regulations – amounted to SIT 593.4 billion. The 
investments of technical provisions grew by SIT 27.8 billion or 11.6 %, and investments 
of mathematical provisions even by SIT 50.5 billion or 18.3 %, which was more than 
the growth of the insurance premium written in the same period.  
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Table 13:  Investments of the insurance undertakings in the period 1996-2005 
(SIT billion as at 31 December) 

 

 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 
Index 
05/96 

Own 
resources 5.7 4.2 5.4 13.3 11.4 16.9 24.3 28.3 37.4 46.1 808
Assets 
covering 
mathematica
l provisions 24.6 35 48.3 67 91 123.8 168.8 221.9 276 326.5 1327
Assets 
covering 
technical 
provisions 
without 
assets 
covering 
mathematica
l provisions 42.3 57 72.4 88 107.1 128 187.5 220.8 239.1 266.9 631

Total 72.6 96.2 126.1 168.3 209.5 268.7 380.6 471.0 552.5 639.5 880.8
* Data used in calculation of indexes expressed in SIT million. 
Source: Report on assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN forms  
 
 

In the structure of investments by financial sources, the highest increase since 1996 
has been recorded in investments of assets covering mathematical provisions which, 
with SIT 326.5 billion as at 31 December 2005, already represented as much as 55 % 
of all investments of assets covering technical provisions. 
 
Table 14:  Investments of the reinsurance undertakings in the period 1996-2005 

(SIT billion as at 31 December) 
 

  1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 
Index 
05/96 

Own 
resources 0.6 1 3.6 6.9 9.4 9.3 12.5 14.7 17.3 

  
19.4 3233

Assets 
covering 
technical 
provisions 
without 
assets 
covering 
mathematica
l provisions 20.2 24 25 24.2 25.9 29.2 31.3 38.4 39.6 42 208

Total 20.8 25 28.6 31.1 35.3 38.5 43.8 53.1 56.9 61.4 295.2
* Data used in calculation of indexes expressed in SIT million. 
Source: Report on assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN forms  
 
Reinsurance undertakings show lower growth rates of investments than insurance 
undertakings. As at 31 December 2005, the investments of technical provisions created 
by reinsurance undertakings amounted to SIT 42 billion – a rise of SIT 2.4 billion or 6 % 
over the previous year. 
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Table 15:  Investment structure of assets covering mathematical provisions, and 
assets covering technical provisions in the period 2000-2005 (SIT billion as at 31 
December) 
 

  Assets covering mathematical provisions 
Assets covering technical provisions without assets 

covering mathematical provisions 
  2000 % 2002 % 2004 % 2005 % 2000 % 2002 % 2004 % 2005 % 

Government 
securities* 45.3 49.8 84 49.8 138.1 50 150.3 46.1 22.4 20.9 57.1 30.4 73.2 30.6 100.4 37.6

Real estate 2.1 2.3 0.6 0.4 0.4 0.1 0.5 0.2 8.6 8 10.7 5.7 8.9 3.7 8.5 3.2

Loans 0.5 0.5 0.9 0.5 2.9 1 2.5 0.8 11.8 11 10.2 5.4 6.2 2.6 4 1.5

Debt 
securities 19 20.9 43.6 25.8 72.8 26.4 90.3 27.7 11.9 11.1 22.8 12.2 42.2 17.6 46.6 17.5

Equity 
securities 4.8 5.3 10.3 6.1 34.4 12.5 54.7 16.8 16.8 15.7 26.3 14 46.4 19.4 44 16.5

Bank 
deposits 19.1 21 28.2 16.7 26.8 9.7 27.2 8.3 35.2 32.9 39.7 21.2 36.2 15.2 36.2 13.6

Other 0.2 0.3 1.2 0.7 0.8 0.3 0.7 0.2 0.4 0.4 20.8 11.2 26 10.9 27.2 10.2

Total 90.9 100 168.8 100 276 100 326.2 100.0 107.1 100 187.5 100 239.1 100 266.9 100
*Government securities and securities with government guarantee (1998-2000, Government securities and loans with 
government guarantee) 
Source: Report on assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions; and RN forms  
 
Assets covering technical provisions were invested primarily in government securities 
(37.6 %). In comparison with the previous years a significant downfall was seen in bank 
deposits (13.6 %) and loans (1.5 %), while on the other hand the investments in debt 
securities, which in 2005 already accounted for 17.5 % of all investments of assets 
covering technical provisions of insurance undertakings, have been on a steady rise. 
 
In the structure of assets covering mathematical provisions, investments in government 
securities are still prevailing (46.1 %), followed by investments in other debt securities 
(27.7 %), equity securities (16.8 %) and bank deposits (8.3 %). 
 
Investments of the insurance sector as a whole are mainly bank equity and debt 
securities and bank deposits. Such an investment policy of insurance undertakings 
reflects also the integration process of bank and insurance undertakings, which 
importantly influences the ownership mix of domestic financial institutions and their 
overall exposure.  
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Figure 8:  Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions (together 
with assets covering mathematical provisions) in the period 2000-2005 (SIT billion as at 31 
December) 
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Figure 9:  Investment structure of assets covering technical provisions of 

reinsurance undertakings in the period 2000-2005 (SIT billion as at 31 
December) 
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The value of investments of assets covering technical provisions of reinsurance 
undertakings at the end of 2005 over 2004 increased by SIT 2.4 billion or 6.1 %. Assets 
covering technical provisions were invested primarily in government securities and 
government guaranteed securities (53.1 %), in the form of bank deposits (25 %) and in 
debt securities (13.1 %).  
 
The share of assets covering technical provisions other than assets covering 
mathematical provisions invested in the form of bank deposits and loans in the 
reference period has been falling, while on the other hand investments in debt 
securities and equity securities have been growing. This shift in investment dynamics 
brings investments of domestic insurance undertakings closer to the EU average, 
where insurance undertakings have the major part of their assets invested in debt and 
equity securities. Since the domestic capital market does not permit any substantial 
expansion of such investments, domestic insurance undertakings should seek access 
to the foreign markets. 
 
As far as foreign investments are concerned, the insurance undertakings give priority to 
investments in dealing bonds and shares of banks and of other renowned financial 
institutions having a suitably high rating. Another frequent choice is governments 
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bonds. Also the share of investments in other debt securities (compound securities), in 
mutual funds and in shares of investments companies has been increasing. As at 31 
December 2005, the share of investments in securities issued by foreign issuers 
accounted for 20.4 % of all investments of insurance undertakings in securities (of all 
investments, irrespective of their source). Table 16 shows a summary of the investment 
structure of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical 
provisions in foreign markets. 
  
Table 16:  Investments abroad of assets covering technical provisions and assets 

covering mathematical provisions in the period 2002-2005 (SIT billion as at 
31 December) 

 

  

Governm
ent 

securities 
Debt 

securities 
Equity 

securities 
Loans 

 
Bank 

deposits 

Total 
investm

ents 
abroad 

Total 
investm

ents 

Share of 
investm

ents 
abroad 
in total 
investm
ents*** 

2002   1.3 1.3  0.6 3.1 187.5 1.68 

2003   2.2 0.9    3.2 220.8 1.44 
2004 0.3 11.3 1.7   13.4 239.1 5.59 

Assets 
covering 
technical 
provisions 2005 1.2 15.9 2.2   20.4 266.9 7.65 

2002 0.7 11.2 0.1    12.0 168.8 7.08 

2003 1.7 20.0 2.1    23.8 221.9 10.74 
2004 11.5 33.7 5.8 0.8  51.9 276.0 18.79 

Assets 
covering 
mathematic
al 
provisions 2005 14.3 47.7 1.0   76.9 326.2 23.56 

* Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million. 
Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions. 
 
Thus, at the end of 2005, investments in foreign shares and bonds had already 
reached SIT 82.3 billion. The major share of investments abroad represents 
investments of assets covering mathematical provisions. They have been on a steady 
rise for several years now and in 2005 amounted to almost 23.6 % of all investments of 
assets covering mathematical provisions. Of these, investments in foreign debt 
securities represent 52.8 % of all assets covering mathematical provisions invested by 
insurance undertakings in debt securities, while investments in foreign equity securities 
make 1.8 % of all investments in such securities. In 2005, a prominent rise was also 
recorded by investments of technical provisions abroad – by as much as 52.2 %. Thus 
investments of assets covering technical provisions abroad accounted for almost 7.6 % 
of all investments of assets covering technical provisions. Investments abroad of 
assets covering technical provisions of reinsurance undertakings stood at SIT 1.6 
billion and represented a meagre 3.9 % of all investments of assets covering technical 
provisions of reinsurance undertakings.  
 
The share of investments in compound securities is on the rise. As at 31 December 
2004, only one insurance undertaking disclosed investments in compound securities 
under the investments of assets covering technical provisions, i.e. investments in 14 
different compound securities in the total value of SIT 14.6 billion. However, as at 31 
December 2005, investments in compound securities were seen already in six 
insurance undertakings, together covering 33 compound securities. Of those, 10 
securities were issued by a bank and 23 by a financial company. The aggregate value 
of such investments amounted to SIT 26.2 billion, of which investments of assets 
covering mathematical provisions totalled SIT 17.7 billion, investments of assets 
covering technical provisions, without assets covering mathematical provisions, SIT 7.5  
billion, and the remaining part were investments of free assets of insurance 
undertakings. All investments in compound securities are long-term investments with 

 28



maturity of 5 to 40 years, mostly of 10 to 20 years. The insurance undertakings mainly 
purchase those securities with the intention to hold them to maturity, individual 
purchases ranging from EUR 200,000 to EUR 5.9 million.  All securities are traded on 
well-established world stock exchanges, most frequently on the Luxembourg stock 
exchange. 
 
Comparing the assets covering technical provisions set aside with the actual 
investments, investments of assets covering technical provisions up to 2001 showed a 
deficit, which partly resulted from the fact that these assets were used to finance 
tangible fixed assets for insurance operations and receivables, and partly from value 
adjustments on investments, write-offs or unsettled losses. For the first time in 2002, 
technical provisions were sufficiently covered by investments of assets covering 
technical provisions; the situation further improved in 2003, primarily due to relaxation 
of requirements and allowing the insurance undertakings to include – in addition to 
investments themselves – also amounts owed by policyholders under non-life 
insurance with maturity in up to 30 days and receivables from interest on investments 
in bonds and other debt securities and in bank deposits. This is summarised in the 
table below.  
 
Table 17:  Comparison of other technical provisions and actual investments of 

assets covering technical provisions other than mathematical provisions 
for insurance and reinsurance undertakings in the period 1996-2005 (SIT 
billion) 

 
 

  1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 
Investments of 
assets covering 
TP 62.6 81 97.4 112.2 133 157.1 218.8 259.2 278.7 308.9

Resources of TP 91.8 105.7 124 139.8 163.8 192.1 215 235.4 255.2 282.1

Difference -29,2 -24,6 -26,7 -27,6 -30,8 -35 3,8 23,8 23,5 26,8
*Interest on investments + amounts owed by policyholders with maturity in up to 30 days (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
109/2002, application as of 14 December 2002). For 2002, this amount was SIT 20.8 billion, for 2003 SIT 26 billion, for 
2004  SIT 25 billion, and for 2005 SIT 26 billion. 
Source: St-43 and St-55 Forms, RN forms, report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets 
covering mathematical provisions, and audited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance undertakings as at 31 
December 1996 – 31 December 2004, and unaudited balance sheets of insurance and reinsurance industry as at 31 
December 2005. 
 
The coverage at the end of 2005 increased by 14 % in comparison with the previous 
year. Thus the share of technical provisions covered with assets covering mathematical 
provisions in 2005 was 110.8 %, while the share of technical provisions covered with 
assets covering technical provisions other than assets covering mathematical 
provisions notched 109.6 %. 

3. 9.  Capital Adequacy 

The principle of risk management is one of the important principles stipulated in the IA. 
Provided that adequate technical provisions are ensured – and also appropriate 
investment of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical 
provisions, reinsurance, co-insurance and liquidity management of these assets – 
insurance undertakings control their risk exposure primarily by ensuring sufficient 
capital, i.e. capital adequacy (the minimum capital and the guarantee fund). In 
accordance with the criteria laid down in the IA, the capital adequacy is ensured if the 
insurance undertaking at any point in time disposes of adequate capital with regard 
both to the volume and type of insurance operations performed, and to the risks to 
which it is exposed in performing those operations. The capital adequacy is calculated 
by applying the methodology set out in the IA and the implementing regulations 

 29



adopted on the basis thereof. The capital adequacy of insurance undertakings is 
established and disclosed on prescribed forms (self-assessment of capital adequacy).  
 
Insurance undertakings are obliged to calculate their capital adequacy and to submit 
the completed forms to the Insurance Supervision Agency as part of quarterly or 
annual statements. In summer 2004, the Agency, on the basis of amendments to the 
IA, adopted a new decision on detailed method of calculating capital and compliance 
with the capital and capital adequacy requirements, which requires from the composite 
insurance undertaking to calculate the surplus or deficit of the available capital 
separately for non-life and life insurance. In March 2006, the Agency adopted a number 
of amendments to the above-mentioned decision in line with the new amendments to 
the Slovenian Accounting Standards. 
 
The insurance undertakings are obliged at any time to establish and demonstrate their 
capital adequacy. If the insurance undertaking's capital fails to achieve the minimum 
capital laid down in Articles 110 and/or 111 of the IA on account of increased capital 
requirements or other causes, the board of directors of the insurance undertaking must 
immediately adopt the measures for ensuring minimum capital within its responsibility, 
or else propose measures within the responsibility of other bodies of the insurance 
undertaking. Non-compliance with the minimum capital requirement constitutes a 
serious violation of risk management rules. If the board of directors of the insurance 
undertaking does not adopt the required measures, the Agency orders the board of 
directors or supervisory board to eliminate the established violations. 
 
Table 18:  Capital adequacy of insurance undertakings as at 31 December 2004 and 

31 December 2005 (SIT billion) 
 

 2004 2005 

CAPITAL 
Non-life 

insurance 
Life 

assurance 
Non-life 

insurance 
Life 

assurance 
Core Capital 47.5 11.3 44.4 19.1 

Guarantee fund 11.7 5.2 12.6 6.0 

Compliance with Article 106(3) of the IA 35.8 6.1 31.8 13.1 

Supplementary capital 23.9 1.8 20.4 2.0 

Available capital of insurance undertakings 54.5 12.3 47.1 18.3 

Required minimum capital 31.0 12.8 33.6 14.5 

Capital adequacy 23.5 -0.5 13.5 3.8 
Source: KUS Forms  
 
As at 31 December 2004, two out of thirteen insurance undertakings in non-life 
insurance and two insurance undertakings in life assurance showed a deficit of 
available capital. As at 31 December 2005, a deficit of available capital was recorded 
by one out of fourteen insurance undertakings in non-life insurance. The insurance 
undertaking eliminated the deficit through increasing its capital stock – the 
supplementary capital was paid in in December 2005. However, as at 31 December 
2005, it was not yet entered in the company register and therefore it was not taken into 
account in calculation of its capital adequacy. Also in life assurance one insurance 
undertaking recorded a deficit of available capital as at 31 December 2005, but it has 
already adopted the solvency restoration measures in 2006. As at 31 December 2005, 
the whole non-life insurance industry showed deterioration of its capital adequacy in 
comparison with 1 January 2005/31 December 2004. This deterioration was due to 
decrease in the core capital (boosted by decrease in the share capital, capital surplus 
and profit reserves) as well as supplementary capital and, on the one hand, an 
increased requirement for minimum capital of the insurance undertakings. In the same 
period, the capital adequacy of life insurance undertakings improved, despite the 
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increased required minimum capital, as a result of increased core capital. The core 
capital increased by additional payments of share capital, capital surplus and profit 
reserves as well as higher retained profit from previous periods and undistributed profit 
for the financial year.  
 
Table 19:  Capital adequacy of reinsurance undertakings as at 31 December 2004 

and 31 December 2005 (SIT billion) 
 

CAPITAL 2004 2005 
Core Capital 18.3 21.0 
Guarantee fund 1.5 1.5 
Compliance with Article 106(3) of the IA 16.8 19.5 
Supplementary capital 1.3 0.4 
Available capital of reinsurance undertakings 12.0 12.0 
Required minimum capital 4.4 4.6 
Capital adequacy 7.6 7.4 

Source: KUS Forms. 
 
As at 31 December 2004 and at 31 December 2005, both reinsurance undertakings 
posted a surplus of available capital, the surplus being practically the same in both 
years (SIT 7.6 billion and SIT 7.4 billion),  
 
As at 31 December 2005, the whole insurance sector showed deterioration of its capital 
adequacy in comparison with 1 January 2005/31 December 2004, as demonstrated by 
the figure below: 
 
Figure 10:  Surplus of available capital in calculating the capital adequacy of 

insurance and reinsurance undertakings by quarters, 2005 (SIT billion) 
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Source: KUS Forms. 

4.  PENSION COMPANIES 

4.1.    Structure of the Insurance Market with respect to Shares held by 
Pension Companies 

According to the PIIA-1, a pension company is a legal entity with its registered office in 
the Republic of Slovenia which has been granted an authorisation to provide voluntary 
supplementary insurance services. Nevertheless, the provisions of the law regulating 
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insurance on insurance public limited companies apply to pension companies which 
can be organised only as such, unless otherwise provided in the PIIA-1. The 
authorisation for provision of voluntary supplementary insurance services is granted by 
the Agency on the basis of the positive opinion of the minister responsible for labour.  
 
At the end of 2005, four pension companies were granted authorisation to perform 
voluntary supplementary pension insurance operations.  
 
Table 20:  Gross insurance premiums written, number of insured persons and 

market shares of pension companies in 2004 and 2005  
 

Pension Company 

Premiu
ms 

in 2004 
(SIT 

billion) %* 

Number 
of 

insured 
persons 

2004 % 

Premiu
ms 

in 2005 
(SIT 

billion) %* 

Number 
of 

insured 
persons 

2005 % 
Moja naložba Pension 
Company 2.1 12,0 20.081 12,5 2.5 12,6 22.591 12,6 
Prva Pension Company 4.0 23,5 50.599 31,4 5.2 26,3 60.122 33,5 
Skupna Pension Company 6.8 39,4 54.675 33,9 7.6 38,4 59.331 33,0 
A Pension Company 4.3 25,1 35.723 22,2 4.5 22,7 37.455 20,9 
TOTAL 17.2 100 161.078 100 19.8 100 179.499 100 

* Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million. 
Source: St-19, St- 50, St-23, St-56/I and St-56/K Forms. 
 
In 2005, pension companies collected gross insurance premiums in the amount of SIT 
19.8 billion, which means an improvement of SIT 2.6 billion or 15.1 % year-on-year. 
The combined market share of the three largest companies was 87.4 %. However, their 
respective market shares changed slightly in comparison with the previous year. The 
Prva Pension Company increased its share a little on account of the Skupna Pension 
Company and A Pension Company. 
 
As of 31 December 2005, pension companies had contracts concluded with 179.499 
persons – 18.421 more than in the previous year. The majority of the insured, i.e. 
176.093 (98,1 % of all insured persons), have concluded collective insurance contracts, 
and 3.406  individual insurance contracts. In 2005, the average monthly gross premium 
per insured person in pension companies ranged from SIT 8.317 to SIT 11.113. By the 
number of the insured, the largest share is held by the same three pension companies 
which hold the leading position also as regards the shares of insurance premium 
written.  

4.2.      Income Statements 

The review of performance for 2005 covers audited income statements of all four 
pension companies. Pension companies have prepared their income statements on the 
basis of the implementing regulations issued by the Agency and the Slovenian 
Accounting Standards. All these data are detailed below in the tabular part. 
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Table 21:  Summary income statement of pension companies for 2004 and 2005 
(SIT million) 

 

  B. INCOME STATEMENT FROM LIFE INSURANCE 2004 2005 

I. Net revenue from insurance premiums 17,157 19,802 
II. Investment revenue 3,487 5,335 
IV. Other net revenue from insurance operations 948 1,228 

V. Net expenses for damages paid 55 154 

VI. Changes in other net technical provisions  (+/-) -18,539 -21,191 
VIII. Net operating expenses 1,135 1,201 
IX. Investment expenses 781 2,063 

X1. Other net insurance expenses 975 1,253 

XII. 
Investment gains transferred from income statement for ordinary 
activities (-) 298 479 

XIII. Profit or loss from life assurance  (I+II+IV-V+/-VI-VIII-IX-XI-XII) -190 24 

  D. INCOME STATEMENT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES   

II. Profit or loss from life insurance operations (B.XIII) -190 24 

V. 
Investment gains transferred from income statement of life 
insurance operations (B.XII) 298 479 

IX. Other revenue from ordinary activities 8 6 
X. Other expenses from ordinary activities -2 1 

X1. Income tax on ordinary activities 13 84 

XII. Net profit or loss from ordinary activities (D.II+D.V+D.IX-D.X-DXI) 102 424 

  
E. INCOME STATEMENT FROM EXTRAORDINARY 
OPERATIONS   

I. Extraordinary revenue 10 0 

II. Extraordinary expenses 3 1 

III. Profit or loss from extraordinary activities 7 -1 

  
G. OTHER TAXES NOT DISCLOSED UNDER OTHER ITEMS 
 0 -15 

  
H. NET PROFIT OR NET LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (D.XII+E.III 
– G) 109 438 

Source: Audited income statements of pension companies for 2004 and 2005. 
 
In 2005, pension companies together generated a profit of SIT 438 million, which is a 
301.8 % jump year-on-year. Only one pension company ended the year in red figures 
(SIT 25.8 million). This improvement in performance of pension companies should be 
attributed to growth of net revenue from insurance premiums by 15.4 % and of 
investment revenue. The growth of net revenue from insurance premiums entailed the 
corresponding obligation of pension companies to increase other technical provisions – 
change in technical provisions posted a rise by 14.3 %. The technical account of 
pension companies at the end of the year was positive for the first time ever; it stood at 
SIT 24 million.  

4.3.      Balance Sheets 

The balance sheet total of pension companies in 2005 notched SIT 77.5 billion; i.e. up 
SIT 23.2 billion or 43 % over the previous year. The most vigorous growth on the 
assets side was seen in investments in land, buildings and other investments, 
accounting for 96 % of all assets of pension companies, which increased by 43 %. Of 
those, investments in enterprises in the group and in associates went up by 64 % and 
other investments by 42 %. On the liabilities side, the major item is the technical 
provisions (87.5 %), which posted a rise of 46 % in 2005. The capital item, representing 
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11.2 % of all liabilities, rose by 23 % in 2005, in particular on account of increase in the 
specific capital revaluation adjustment and profit reserves.  

 
Table 22:  Summary balance sheet of pension companies as at 31 December 2004 

and 31 December 2005 (SIT million) 
 

  2004 2005 Index 
05/04* 

  ASSETS 54,239 77,471 143 
A. Intangible fixed assets 113 80 70 
B. Investments in land and buildings and other investments 52,145 74,544 143 
 – Of which other investments 48,592 69,016 142 

C. 
Investments for the benefit of holders of life insurance 
policies that have assumed the investment risk 0 0 / 

D. Receivables 245 389 159 
E. Diverse assets 335 496 148 

F. Deferred costs and accrued revenue 1,400 1,962 140 
  LIABILITIES 54,239 77,471 143 

A. Capital; of which: 7,082 8,699 123 
 – Called capital 6,070 6,355 105 
 – Capital surplus 1,149 1,149 100 
B. Subordinated liabilities 0 0 / 
C. Net technical (mathematical) provisions 46,548 67,771 146 
D. Other provisions (for other risks and charges) 63 90 143 

F. Other liabilities 508 891 175 

G. Accrued cost and deferred revenue 38 20 53 
Source: Audited balance sheets of pension companies as at 31 December 2005. 

4.4.      Performance Indicators 

The major performance indicators are summarised in the table below: 
 
Table 23:  Performance indicators of pension companies for 2004 and 2005 
 
INDICATOR 2004 2005 
Share of operating expenses in premiums written 6,6% 6,1% 
Investment ratio or share of mathematical provisions covered by assets* 100% 100% 
Share of capital in financing 13% 11% 
Net return on equity  1,5% 5,0% 
Share of net insurance premium in gross premium written 100% 100% 

*+ interest on investment (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 109/2002, application as of 14 December 2002). 
Source: Form St-55, audited balance sheets and audited income statements, Report on investments of assets covering 
technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions. 
 
In 2005, the indicator of all operating expenses, expressing the value of all operating 
expenses against the gross insurance premiums written, was again affected mainly by 
the substantial growth of premiums. 
 
The investment ratio, or share of technical provisions covered by assets, remained at 
the 100 % level of the previous year. 
 
The share of capital in financing, showing the share of own capital participation in the 
overall financing, i.e. in all liabilities, fell 2 percentage points against the previous year 
although the capital rose by 23 %.  
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The net return on equity improved by 3.5 percentage points – this improvement was 
brought about by the better operating account and, as a result, increased net profit in 
2005 as compared to the previous year. 
 
In 2005, the share of net insurance premiums in the gross premiums written for 
pension companies remained unchanged at 100 %, indicating that pension companies 
do not reinsure risks underwritten.   

4.5.      Mathematical Provisions 

During the saving period, mathematical provisions are calculated as the accumulated 
paid-in premiums. Pension companies set aside mathematical provisions as provided 
for in the pension schemes.  
 
As at 31 December 2005, mathematical provisions set aside by pension companies 
amounted to SIT 67.8 billion, which is as much as a 45.6 % rise year-on-year. The 
amount of net mathematical provisions is equal to gross mathematical provisions.  

4.6.      Investments 

As at 31 December 2005, investments of assets covering mathematical provisions of 
pension companies totalled SIT 67.9 billion, up by 46 % from the previous year. The 
investment structure shows a downturn of investments in government securities and 
securities with government guarantee – with a 36.7 % share as at 31 December 2005 
they ceased to be the prevailing type of investment. Consequently, as at 31 December 
2005, investments in debt securities took the lead – they represented 37.8 % of all 
investments. The share of investments in bank deposits also rose from 16.1 % in 2004 
to 17.5 % in 2005. 
 
Figure 11:  Investment structure of assets covering mathematical provisions of 

pension companies as at 31 December 2002, 31 December 2003, 31 
December 2004 and 31 December 2005 (SIT million) 
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Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions 
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Also the investment structure of pension companies shows an increasing share of 
investments in foreign markets. As at 31 December 2005, the share of investments in 
securities issued by foreign issuers accounted for 23.7 % of all investments of pension 
companies in securities (i.e. irrespective of the source of investments). As regards 
investments of assets covering mathematical provisions, investments in foreign 
government, equity and debt securities amounted to SIT 11.7 billion, which was almost 
17.3 % of all investments of assets covering mathematical provisions of pension 
companies. Of these, investments in foreign equity securities accounted for 34 % of all 
investments in equity securities, while investments in foreign debt securities 
represented 32.7 % of all investments in such securities.  
 
Table 24:  Structure of investments abroad of assets covering technical provisions 

and assets covering mathematical provisions of pension companies in 
the period 2002-2005 (SIT billion as at 31 December) 

 

  
Government 

securities 
Debt 

securities 
Equity 

securities 

Total 
investment

s abroad 

Total 
investment

s 

Share of 
investment
s abroad in 

total 
investment

s*** 
2002 0 0.6 0.2 0.8 13.1 6.39 
2003 0 1.8 0.3 2.2 27.8 7.87 
2004 0.2 4.7 1.6 6.5 46.5 14.08 

Assets 
covering 

mathematic
al 

provisions   2005 1.3 8.4 1.8 11.7 67.9 17.31 
* Data used in calculation of shares expressed in SIT million. 
Source: Report on investments of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical provisions. 
 
Like the insurance undertakings also pension companies increase the share of 
investments in compound securities. As at 31 December 2004, only one pension 
company disclosed investments in compound securities under the investments of 
assets covering mathematical provisions – i.e. 4 investments in compound securities in 
the total value of SIT 1.2 billion. However, as at 31 December 2005, already three 
pension companies invested in compound securities. Those investments involve 18 
compound securities, of which 9 were issued by a bank, 7 by a financial company and 
2 by the government. The aggregate value of such investments amounted to SIT 6 
billion, of which investments of assets covering mathematical provisions totalled SIT 
5.2 billion, while the remaining part were investments of free assets of pension 
companies.  

4.7.     Capital Adequacy 

As at 31 December 2005, all pension companies met the capital requirement and 
improved their capital adequacy as compared to 2004 – by SIT 0.4 billion or 12.5 %. 
 
Table 25:  Capital adequacy of pension companies as at 31 December 2004 and 31 

December 2005 (SIT billion) 
CAPITAL 2004 2005 
Core capital 5.1 6.1 
Guarantee fund 1.9 2.1 
Compliance with Article 106 (3) of the IA 3.2 4.0 
Supplementary capital 0.4 0.4 
Available capital of the pension company 5.5 6.4 
Required minimum capital 2.5 2.8 
Capital adequacy 3.2 3.6 

Source: KUS Forms. 
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5.  OTHER COMPANIES PERFORMING INSURANCE 
OPERATIONS 

In line with the provisions of the IA, the Insurance Supervision Agency also supervises 
the Supplementary Pension Insurance Fund (the First Pension Fund), established 
pursuant to the First Pension Fund of the Republic of Slovenia and Transformation of 
Authorised Investment Corporations Act, the insurance and reinsurance pools, and the 
Slovene Insurance Association – Indemnity fund. 
 
Table 26:  Gross insurance premium written by other companies performing 

insurance operations in 2004 and 2005 (SIT billion) 
 

Company and insurance class 2004 2005 

First Pension Fund (life assurance linked to investment fund units) 14.2* 1.2 

Nuclear Pool GIZ (fire and natural forces insurance) 0.3 0.3 

Slovene Insurance Association – Indemnity Fund (motor vehicle liability insurance) 0.8 0.8 
*The amount transferred from FPF Saving fund to FPF Assets covering mathematical provisions. 
Source: St-23 and St-50 Forms. 
 
The First Pension Fund is managed by the Pension Fund Management Company on 
behalf of and for the account of the insured persons with the objective to cover its 
obligations to the insured. These obligations derive from supplementary pension 
insurance policies and they relate to payments of pension annuities or the insured sum, 
respectively, when the policyholder has died prior to acquisition of the right to pension 
annuities. Premium for the pension annuity was ensured by exchange of pension 
coupons for points of insurance policies.  
 
On 13 July 2004 the first policyholders, aged 55 or over as at that date, acquired the 
right to pension annuity. This means that, as at that date, there was a distribution of 
funds and policyholders within the FPF to the part belonging to policies before 
policyholders become entitled to the pension annuity (saving fund of the FPF), and FPF 
Assets covering mathematical provisions, intended solely to cover liabilities for 
payment of pension annuities.  Altogether 11,002 policyholders became entitled to 
pension annuities in 2004 and 927 in 2005 and, accordingly, the amount of SIT 1,177 
million was paid into the FPF Assets covering mathematical provisions in 2005. 
 
The pool for insurance and reinsurance of nuclear risks (Nuclear pool GIZ) was 
established in 1994. Its primary objective is insurance, co-insurance and reinsurance 
against nuclear risks in connection with the nuclear facilities or use of nuclear energy 
for peaceful purposes in the country as well as from abroad. Seven insurance 
undertakings and both reinsurance undertakings were the members of the pool in 
2005.  
 
The Slovene Insurance Association – Indemnity Fund, made up from contributions of 
all insurance undertakings underwriting motor vehicle liability insurance, provides 
compensation for damages caused by drivers of unknown and non-insured motor 
vehicles, aircraft and ships and boats. 
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6.  CONCLUSION 

The insurance industry as a whole showed good operating results in 2005, better than 
in the previous year and in 2003. The insurance undertakings posted an aggregate net 
profit of SIT 9 billion. Five insurance undertakings, which represent a 7.7 % market 
share in terms of the balance sheet total, showed net loss totalling SIT 3.6 billion. This 
improved operating result is mainly due to the better technical account in non-life 
insurance (except in health insurance), which reflects a more favourable ratio between 
revenues from insurance premiums and expenses for damages paid. Also the technical 
account for life insurance showed a modest improvement in 2005, while the technical 
account for health insurance remained unchanged and again posted red figures.  
 
The capital adequacy in non-life insurance deteriorated by SIT 10 billion year-on-year, 
while in life insurance it improved by SIT 4.3 billion. At the end of 2005, insurance 
companies showed SIT 13.5 billion of the available surplus over the required minimum 
capital in non-life insurance and SIT 4.3 billion in life insurance. Capital inadequacy as 
at the end of 2005 was reported by one insurance undertaking in non-life insurance 
and one insurance undertaking in life insurance.  
 
In recent years, financial investments of insurance undertakings show flourishing 
growth rates. In the investment structure by financial sources, the highest increase has 
been recorded in investments of mathematical provisions (long-term insurance), 
indicating the growth of life insurance, which – from a macroeconomic standpoint – is 
increasingly becoming an alternative form of saving. Also the dynamics of investments 
of assets covering technical provisions created to cover the non-life insurance liabilities 
has been satisfactory. The positive developments in the share of technical provisions 
being covered by assets covering technical provisions in 2005 have been boosted by 
favourable results of insurance undertakings in 2005; this means that insurance 
undertakings are increasingly more financially stable and solvent. The trend of falling of 
share of assets covering technical provisions and assets covering mathematical 
provisions invested in the form of bank deposits and loans continued, while on the 
other hand investments in debt as well as equity securities have been growing, which 
of course requires even more equity capital or its surplus over the statutory minimum. 
Following accession to the EU and due to limited investment opportunities in the 
domestic financial market, insurance undertakings intensified their investment exercise 
abroad.  
 
The two reinsurance undertakings posted almost the same business result as in the 
previous year, showing a net profit of SIT 2.3 billion.  
 
In 2005, pension companies again improved their operating result – they posted an 
aggregate profit of SIT 438 million, up SIT 329 million year-on-year. Only one pension 
company showed red figures at the end of the year. Pension companies increased their 
volume of operations and also the number of policyholders – their number rose by 
28,442. The amount of collected insurance premiums increased, as well as the 
corresponding obligation to set aside the mathematical provisions. Those swelled by 46 
% in comparison with the previous year. Also in 2005, all pension companies 
adequately covered their technical provisions with assets. As at 31 December 2005, all 
pension companies met the capital requirement and increased the available capital 
surplus over the required minimum capital by SIT 0.4 billion against end-2004.  
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II. ANNUAL REPORT 2005 OF THE INSURANCE 
SUPERVISION AGENCY   

1.  INTRODUCTION 

The Insurance Supervision Agency (hereinafter: the Agency) was established pursuant 
to the Insurance Act on 1 June 2000 when the Government of the Republic of Slovenia 
appointed its Council of Experts and the director. In performance of its functions the 
Agency has succeeded the Office for Insurance Supervision, established in 1995 and 
organised as a body within the Ministry of Finance.  
 
The main objective of the Agency is protection of policyholders' interests and the 
interests of the insured through mitigating and eliminating irregularities in insurance.  
 
The Agency is a self-governing and independent legal entity, and as such accountable 
to the National Assembly.  
 
The bodies of the Agency are the Council of Experts and the director. The Council of 
Experts is responsible for adopting decisions with regard to authorisations, consents 
and other individual matters on which, unless otherwise stipulated in the Insurance Act, 
decisions are taken by the Agency; for adopting regulations when the Insurance Act 
determines that such acts be adopted by the Agency; for adopting general acts of the 
Agency and performing other tasks within the competence of the Agency, unless it is 
stipulated by the Insurance Act that another body of the Agency is responsible for 
those tasks.  
 
In 2005, the Council of Experts of the Agency held seventeen regular meetings. Until 
30 June 2005, the president of the Council of Experts was Dr. France Križanič, who 
was succeeded on 1 July 2005 by Dr. Mihael Perman. The director of the Agency is 
responsible for managing operations and organising the work of the Agency and its 
units. The director of the Agency is Mr. Jurij Gorišek, M.Sc. 
 
The main responsibility of the Agency is issuing implementing regulations, which 
constitute the legal base for regulation, control and supervision of the insurance market 
in the Republic of Slovenia, supervision of the players in the insurance market and 
granting authorisations in the insurance area.  

2.    INTERNAL ORGANISATION AND FINANCING OF THE 
INSURANCE SUPERVISION AGENCY IN 2005 

2.1. Internal Organisation and Number of Employees 

In March 2005, the Council of Experts adopted the Decision amending the Rules of 
Procedure of the Insurance Supervision Agency and Amendments to the Rules on 
Internal Organisation and Job Systematisation, and gave the consent on the 
appointment of the deputy director of the Agency. 
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Figure 1:      Internal organisational structure of the Insurance Supervision Agency 
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In 2005, the activities of the Agency were organised in four sections (General and 
Legal Affairs and International Co-operation; Accounting and Financial Analysis; 
Actuaries, Statistics and Informatics; and External Control).  
 
Upon its establishment in June 2000, the Agency had a staff of eight who were 
transferred to the Agency from the former Office of the Republic of Slovenia for 
Insurance Supervision. From that date to the year-end 2005, the Agency carried out an 
extensive project of recruiting new experienced staff.  
 
Table 1:  Number of employees per educational level as at 31 December 2005 
 
Educational level Number of 

employees 
V - secondary education 1 
VII – high education 2 
VIII – university education 19 
VIII – master's degree 7 
Total 29 

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency. 
 
Table 2:  Number of employees per professional title as at 31 December 2005 
 
Professional title Number of 

employees 
NC in administration 1 
B. Sc. in Administration 1 
B. Sc. in Economy (tertiary level) 1 
B. Sc. in Economy (Univ.) 13 
B. Sc. in Mathematics 2 
Professor of Mathematics 1 
B. A. in Law 3 
M. Sc. 7 
Total 29 

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency. 
 
As at 31 December 2005, the Agency had twenty-nine employees: nineteen with a 
university degree, seven with a master’s degree (four in economy, one in economic 
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informatics, one in mathematics and one in law). Five employees have also the licence 
of a certified actuary.   
 
Table 3:   Job systematisation in the Agency and positions occupied as at 31 

December 2005 
 
Internal organisational structure Number of 

employees 
Director  1 
Deputy Director 1 
Head of Section 2 
Adviser to the Agency 3 
Adviser to the Director 12 
Senior Advisor 3 
Advisor I 5 
Accountant 1 
Business Administrator 1 
Total 29 

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency. 
 
Table 4:   Internal organisational structure of the Agency and number of employees 

per section as at 31 December 2005 
 
Internal organisational structure Number of 

employees 
Director 1 
General and Legal Affairs and International Co-
operation Section 

10 

Accounting and Financial Analysis Section 6 
Actuaries, Statistics and Informatics Section 6 
External Control Section 6 
Total 29 

Source: Own data of the Insurance Supervision Agency. 
 
The employees of the Agency may not be members of bodies of insurance 
undertakings or other legal persons supervised by the Agency, and may not carry out 
individual tasks for those legal persons. The employees are also required to protect 
data relating to persons supervised by the Agency and other data relating to facts and 
circumstances with which they became familiar by way of discharging their duties, 
which does not include the data which, pursuant to the provisions of the Insurance Act, 
is public. The above obligation exists also after termination of their office or 
employment. 

2.2. Financing of the Insurance Supervision Agency 

Since October 2002, the amended Tariff on fees, annual fees and lump-sum fees  
(Tariff – 1) has been in force (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 89/02), adopted by the 
Council of Experts of the Agency in June 2002 and approved by the Government of the 
Republic of Slovenia in October 2002. The amended Tariff of October 2002 lays down 
lower annual fee rates than the original Tariff. Annual fee rates are now set for 
insurance undertakings and pension companies at 0.12 % from the basis (the amount 
of premiums paid in the previous year), for insurance undertakings in an insurance 
group at 0.13 % of the basis (the amount of premiums paid in the previous year), for 
insurance agencies and insurance brokerage companies at 0.06 % of the basis 
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(income from insurance agency services or brokerage in the previous year), and for the 
Slovene Insurance Association at 0.12 % of the basis (amount of contributions to the 
Indemnity Fund). 
 
In 2005, the Agency had to adopt a further amendment to the Tariff on fees, annual 
fees and lump-sum fees (Tariff-1A) to align it with the amendments to the IA. In 
accordance with the amended Tariff the persons liable for annual fee are also 
individual entrepreneurs; their annual fee rate is set to 0.06 % from the basis (income 
from insurance agency or brokerage services in the previous year). 

3.  MAIN ACTIVITIES OF THE INSURANCE SUPERVISION 
AGENCY IN 2005 

According to the IA, the Agency is responsible for issuing regulations on the basis 
thereof and for supervision of insurance undertakings, insurance agencies and 
insurance brokerage companies, as well as insurance agents and brokers. The Agency 
also conducts supervision of legal persons related to the insurance undertaking, if 
necessary for the purpose of supervising the insurance undertaking’s operation, as well 
as control of the insurance undertaking within an insurance group, insurance holding 
company and joint-venture insurance holding company. 
 
In accordance with Articles 342 and 377 of the Pension and Invalidity Insurance Act 
(PIIA-1) (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 106/99, 72/00, 81/00 and 52/01, hereinafter: 
PIIA-1), the Agency is responsible for issuing authorisations to pension companies and 
for supervising their operations. 
 
The Agency also performs supervision of the Nuclear Pool and the Slovene Insurance 
Association – Indemnity Fund.  
 
In line with the provisions of the IA, the Agency also supervises the Supplementary 
Pension Insurance Fund (the First Pension Fund), established pursuant to the PIIA-1. 
The Fund is managed by the Pension Fund Management on its own behalf and for the 
account of the insured persons – members of the Fund. The legal basis for 
management is the First Pension Fund of the Republic of Slovenia and Transformation 
of Authorised Investment Corporations Act (Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 50/99 and 
58/02), which stipulates in its Article 23 that its management is subject to supervision 
by the Agency, whereby the provisions of the IA are applied mutatis mutandis.   

3.1. Activities in the Field of Legislation 

3.1.1. Preparation and Issue of Implementing Regulations and 
Amendments thereof  

 
Article 256(2) of the IA stipulates that the Agency prepares and adopts regulations 
when the law determines that such act be adopted by the Agency.  
 
In 2005, to align with the new provisions of the Insurance Act, the Companies Act and 
the Health Care and Health Insurance Act, the Agency drafted anew four implementing 
regulations. 
 
In January 2005, the Agency adopted the new Decision on the first compilation of 
financial statements of insurance undertakings in accordance with the International 
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Financial Reporting Standards (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 10/05). This was 
followed by the Decision on detailed contents of documentation supporting the 
application for authorisation to assume the function of member of the board of directors 
in May 2005 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 52/05), and in October 2005 by the new 
Decision of detailed method of calculation/offset of assets covering mathematical 
provisions or old-age provisions (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 89/05) and the 
Decision on detailed method of accounting for and disclosure of transactions relating to 
equalisations in supplementary health insurance (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
89/05). 
 
The Agency also modified and amended eleven implementing regulations, which were 
published in the Official Gazette already in 2005. 
 
In 2005, the Decision on detailed rules for calculation of the insurance undertakings' 
minimum capital was amended three times: in January, May and October; its 
amendments were published in the Official Gazette of the RS, Nos. 6/05, 47/05 and 
89/05. 
 
In April 2005, the Agency adopted the Decision amending the Decision on supervision 
of an insurance group (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 38/05); in May 2005, the 
Decision amending the Decision on registers of insurance agents, insurance brokers, 
insurance agencies and insurance brokerage companies (Official Gazette of the RS, 
No. 52/05); in July 2005, the Decision amending the Decision on detailed method of 
calculating capital and compliance with capital and capital adequacy requirements 
(Official Gazette of the RS, No. 65/05); in August 2005, the Decision amending the 
Decision on contents of reports referred to in Articles 176 and 236 of the Insurance Act, 
as well as the method and time limits for reporting (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 
86/05), and the Decision amending the Decision on detailed conditions for acquiring 
and examining the expertise necessary for transacting the business of insurance 
agency and brokerage (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 86/05);  in September 2005, the 
Decision amending the Decision on detailed rules and minimum standards relating to 
calculation of technical provisions (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 85/05), and the 
Decision amending the Decision on reporting the statistical insurance data - SKL2002 
(Official Gazette of the RS, No. 85/05); in October 2005, the Decision amending the 
Decision on annual report and quarterly financial statements of insurance undertakings 
– SKL 2002 (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 89/05)  and the Decision amending the 
Decision on the chart of account for insurance undertakings – SKL2002 (Official 
Gazette of the RS, No. 89/05); and in December 2005, the Decision on the report on 
types and value of investments not financed from technical provisions (Official Gazette 
of the RS, No. 118/05).  
 
With a view to unifying the reporting procedure, the Agency issued a new Instruction for 
preparation of reports on investments of assets covering technical provisions and 
assets covering mathematical provisions delivered by insurance undertakings on 
electronic media (Official Gazette of the RS, No. 118/05) in December 2005.  
  
3.1.2. Co-operation in Preparation of Amendments to the Insurance Act 
 
In 2005, the Agency participated in preparation of the Act amending the Insurance Act 
(IA-C).  
 
The main objective of the proposed amendments to the IA is alignment with the acquis, 
i.e. with directives, for which the time limit for their transposition into the Slovenian 
legislation ended after adoption of the last Act amending the IA, and with already 
transposed directives which were subject to corrections. Other changes relate to the 
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provisions on formation or treatment of the equalisation provision and technical 
provisions for risks of major damages – the obligation to set up the equalisation 
provision has been maintained only in credit insurance. Further, the amended 
Insurance Act has abolished the limitation that only reinsurance undertakings may 
perform reinsurance operations. An amendment is proposed to allow the insurance 
undertakings also indirect performance of insurance business. According to the 
proposed IA-C the indirect performance of insurance operation means that the 
insurance undertaking underwrites individual risk as co-insurance or as facultative 
quota reinsurance. The proposal brings also amendments of provisions setting out 
individual elements of the core and supplementary capital of the insurance undertaking 
and financial statements of the insurance undertakings, made necessary with entry into 
force of the Slovenian Accounting Standards. Another amendments are proposed for 
the chapter on insurance agents and brokers to clarify the present regulation, in 
particular in parts where certain discrepancies or a legal gap have been experienced in 
practice. A further objective is to ensure uniformity of the relevant parts of the IA with 
other sectoral regulations (e.g. the presumption of indirect holder is treated in the same 
way as in the Banking Act and in the Securities Market Act) and to eliminate certain 
nomothetic shortcomings. 
 
3.1.3.   Participation in Preparation of the Act amending the Health Care 

and Health Insurance Act 
 
In the first half of 2005, the Agency also participated in drafting the Act amending the 
Health Care and Health Insurance Act (HCHIA-H), which was published in the Official 
Gazette of the RS No. 76/05 of 12 August 2005. 
 
The amended Act introduces the equalisation schemes; it lays down uniform rules on 
what should be covered by the supplementary health insurance; and rules on 
organisation of the representatives' meeting of a mutual insurance company; it set the 
last month in 2005 as the deadline for renewal of insurance contracts and the potential 
transfer of supplementary health insurance to another insurance undertaking; it 
provides that in supplementary health insurance old-age provisions are to be returned 
to the insured; it sets the period from April to June 2006 as the first period for 
equalisation; further, it provides that in case of a positive result from the supplementary 
insurance, the insurance undertakings are obliged to allocate one half of such an 
operating result for performance of the supplementary insurance. 
 
3.1.4.  Participation in drafting the Financial Conglomerates Act 
 
There was another legislative effort in 2005 in which the Agency participated – together 
with the Ministry of Finance, Bank of Slovenia and Securities Market Agency – as a 
member of the working group responsible for preparing the Financial Conglomerates 
Act. The adopted Act was published in the Official Gazette of the RS No. 43/06 of 4 
April 2006. 
 
The Act provides for the supplementary supervision of all subjects of supervision, being 
a part of a financial  conglomerate. The purpose of such supplementary supervisions is 
in particular: to ensure management of risks relating to operation of subjects of 
supervision in a financial conglomerate and hence to secure improved stability of the 
financial sector; by co-operation of the competent supervising authorities and the co-
ordinator to enhance the efficiency of supervision of subjects from different financial 
sectors when belonging to the same financial conglomerate; to enhance the 
transparency and safety of operations in the financial market of the Republic of 
Slovenia, as a part of the EU single financial market. 
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3.2.  Granting of Authorisations and Consents 

In 2005, the Agency granted the authorisation to perform insurance business on the 
basis of Article 353(8) of the Insurance Act to one insurance undertaking.   
 
On the basis of Article 65(4) of the IA, the Agency issued one authorisation for 
transferring insurance contracts to another insurance undertaking. 
 
Further, the Agency granted one authorisation to perform insurance business on the 
basis of Article 65(1) of the Insurance Act.   
 
In 2005, the Agency also issued 5 authorisations for a board of directors' member in an 
insurance company and a pension company, and started the procedure for withdrawing 
the authorisation for a board of directors’ member in an insurance undertaking.  
  
Two legal persons were granted the authorisation to acquire a qualifying holding in an 
insurance undertaking pursuant to Article 18(1) of the Insurance Act and two legal 
persons to acquire a qualifying holding in a pension company on the basis of Article 
18(2) of the IA. 
 
The Agency issued also three authorisations to insurance undertakings for transfer of 
outsourced operations in accordance with Article 65(5) of the Insurance Act. 
 
Pursuant to Article 107(2), second item of point 2 of the Insurance Act, the Agency 
granted the authorisation to take into account one half of the non-paid-up called capital 
of the insurance undertaking.  
 
The Agency issued also an authorisation for merger by acquisition of another insurance 
undertaking to one insurance undertaking in accordance with Article 65(2) of the 
Insurance Act. 
 
The Agency issued three authorisations for direct insurance business in individual EU 
Member States. 
 
Moreover, in 2005, the Agency granted altogether 626 authorisations to perform 
insurance agency and insurance brokerage services. Of these, 87 authorisations were 
granted to insurance agency or brokerage companies and individual entrepreneurs for 
performance of insurance agency and brokerage services, and 539 authorisations or 
decisions in the fact-finding procedure were granted to individuals to perform insurance 
agency and insurance brokerage services. The Agency refused or rejected 6 
applications for authorisations to perform insurance business or insurance agency and 
brokerage services.  
 
In November and December 2005, the Agency organised two exams required for 
acquiring the licence of a certified actuary. Altogether 5 candidates participated and 
successfully passed the exams. Otherwise, the Agency issued 1 licence of a certified 
actuary in 2005. 
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3.3.  Conducting the Supervision of Insurance Undertakings 

3.3.1.   Examination of Reports and Notifications 
 
The Agency conducts the supervision of insurance undertakings and other subjects of 
supervision (reinsurance undertakings, pension companies, insurance agencies, 
insurance brokerage companies, the Slovene Insurance Association – Indemnity fund, 
the pool for insurance and reinsurance of nuclear risks (Nuclear pool GIZ), the First 
Pension Fund) in accordance with the IA and other relevant laws. The Agency is also 
responsible for additional supervision, to the extent laid down in the IA, of insurance  
undertakings in a group, insurance holdings, joint-venture insurance holdings, and 
persons in which the insurance undertaking participates or which participate in an 
insurance undertaking with a registered office in the Republic of Slovenia or abroad. 
The IA also empowers the Agency to supervise those entities which, in addition to 
other activities or as a sole activity, perform insurance services or insurance agency 
services or insurance brokerage without having obtained the relevant authorisation 
from the Agency (illegal performance of insurance operations and insurance agency or 
brokerage services).  
 
The continuous supervision is ensured by means of regular analytical examination of 
reports and notifications submitted by reporting agents (regular reporting) and by 
inspection of operations. Inspections of operations are performed in accordance with 
the annual plan. Inspections of operations are performed by the Agency's employees at 
the registered office of the subject under supervision or at the head office of the 
Agency through examination of the documentation submitted against the request for 
inspection of operations.   
 
Concerning the regular reporting, the Agency verifies the timeliness and correctness of 
reports, and endeavours to establish any material misstatements through detailed 
analysis and cross-examination. If any violation or irregularity in reporting is 
established, the Agency requests the subject of supervision to eliminate them, but may 
also decide to take other appropriate supervisory measures, including the on-the-spot 
inspection by the Agency's staff at the registered office of the subject of supervision 
(and/or its place of business).  
 
3.3.2.  Inspection of Operations 
 
In 2005, the Agency's staff performed 14 inspections of operations – in 4 insurance 
undertakings, one reinsurance undertaking, one branch of a foreign insurance 
undertaking in Slovenia, 3 pension companies, the Nuclear pool GIZ, the Slovene 
Insurance Association – Indemnity Fund, the First Pension Fund, one insurance 
agency and one holding. 
 
Inspections of operations may be complete or focussed only on individual areas of 
activity. Individual areas for inspection are determined on the basis of information from 
reports and notifications, on request of other departments relating to performance of 
other functions of the Agency (granting of authorisation and similar) or, if deemed 
necessary, according to information from publicly available sources. Inspections of 
operations also allow for checks of compliance of documentation with reports and 
notifications submitted to the Agency by the subjects of supervision in the course of 
regular reporting; and for obtaining additional data and information not yet available to 
the Agency.   
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If any violations or irregularities in the operation of subjects of supervisions are 
established, the findings of the Agency's inspectors may serve as the ground for 
issuing the order to eliminate violations. In case of serious violations of risk 
management rules, additional measures may be required by the order. The inspectors 
monitor the elimination of violations by examining the reports on elimination of 
violations and, if appropriate, also by follow-up inspections of operations within the 
scope necessary to find out whether the violations have been eliminated. In case of a 
violation which may qualify as an offence according to the applicable regulation, the 
Agency may act as the offences authority. 
 
3.3.3.  Imposing Measures of Supervision 
 
Based on inspection of operations, the Agency issued 7 orders to eliminate violations 
to various subjects of supervision.  
 
The orders to eliminate violations issued by the Agency in 2005 related mostly to the 
non-compliance with the IA, the Companies Act and the Slovenian Accounting 
Standards and other acts, regulating the operation of subjects supervised by the 
Agency. Throughout 2005, special attention was paid to consistent separate 
bookkeeping for non-life and life insurance. Other established violations related to the 
following: failure to disclose potential liabilities, failure to adhere to general accounting 
assumptions, such as disclosure of revenues on the cash-flow basis instead of the 
accrued basis, incomplete or non-existent accounting records, inadequate  operative 
risks management due to absence of formal internal procedures, including key internal 
controls or even absence of the internal control system in all areas of operation, 
exposure to the risk of non-performance or untimely and irregular performance of 
accounting, financial and actuarial processes entailing exposure to the risk of untimely 
and irregular reporting to the Agency, failure to control risks associated with 
management of assets covering mathematical provisions, keeping of personal 
accounts, and information technologies, and performance of insurance agency services 
without authorisation of the Agency. The serious violations of risk management rules 
related to non-establishment of consistent records of policies (offers) and hence 
exposure to risk of unknown liabilities, inconsistency of data on provisions in financial 
statements and the actuarial report, and inaccurate records of claims used for 
calculation of provisions for claims outstanding.  
 
Table 5:  Number of inspections of operations and orders on elimination of violations 
 
 2004 2005 
Inspections of operations 9 14 
Orders on elimination of violations 13 7 

 

3.4.  Co-operation with Domestic and Foreign Supervisory Authorities 
and Institutions 

In discharging its functions the Agency regularly co-operates with the competent 
ministries, in particular with the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Labour, Family and 
Social Affairs, the Ministry of Health, as well as the Bank of Slovenia, the Securities 
Market Agency, the Slovenian Institute of Auditors, the Slovene Insurance 
Associations, the Money Laundering Prevention Office and the Office for Prevention of 
Corruption.  
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Pursuant to the Code of Practice for co-operation between supervisory authorities, the 
members of the Co-operation Commission, which is composed of the deputy governor 
of the Bank of Slovenia or director of the Department of Banking Operations 
Supervision of the Bank of Slovenia, director of the Securities Market Agency, and 
director of the Insurance Supervision Agency, held two meetings in 2005. 
 
In accordance with Article 6(2) of the Code of Practice, ensuring that the duty of 
convening and organising meetings and preparing the minutes shall rotate each year to 
another supervisory body, at the end of 2005, this task was passed from the Securities 
Markets Agency to the Insurance Supervision Agency.  
 
The Agency also co-operates with insurance supervisory or financial control authorities 
from other EU Member States, Croatia, BiH and Macedonia.  
 
In 2005, the Agency participated in preparations for introduction of the euro in the 
insurance sector. In its capacity as a member of the Co-ordinating Committee for 
Technical Preparation to Introduce the Euro, established after Slovenia's joining the 
ERM II, it prepared the framework action plan for introduction of the euro in the 
insurance sector already at the end of 2004. The Agency is represented in the Co-
ordinating Committee by its director and deputy director. The Agency has also 
established a working group with the task of preparing for the introduction of the euro in 
the insurance sector.  
 
Also the Slovene Insurance Association (hereinafter: the Association) established its 
project team for introduction of the euro (hereinafter: PTEUR) already at the end of 
2004. The representatives of the Agency follow the progress of the PTEUR work by 
attending its meeting. 
 
At the beginning of April 2005, the Agency and PTEUR adopted a decision to prepare a 
questionnaire on preparation for dual display of prices and meeting the conditions for 
introductions of the euro in insurance undertakings.  Most questions have already been 
clarified or answered, also in co-operation with the Co-ordinating Committee for 
Technical Preparation to Introduce the Euro, Ministry of Economy, Ministry of Finance 
and the Slovenian Institute of Auditors. 
 
With the view of better control over the progress of preparations for the introduction of 
the euro, the Agency also set up an Internet web site which is regularly updated. 
 
In 2005, the Agency, in co-operation with the Irish consulting company Visor, continued 
with establishing the information system to aid electronic reporting and automatic 
monitoring of statistical data in non-life and life insurance, which was launched already 
in 2001. 
 
3.4.1. Committee of European Insurance and Occupational Pensions 

Supervisors – CEIOPS 
 
An increasingly important task is participation of the Agency in the Committee of the 
European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Supervisors – CEIOPS, established 
on 28 May 2004 in Frankfurt under the terms of the ECOFIN Council Decision of 20 
January 2004. In CEIOPS the Agency co-operates at a number of levels, which gives it 
the opportunity to participate in drafting new legislative solutions and also the possibility 
of further training of the Agency's personnel.  
 
The main body of CEOIPS is the meeting of heads of insurance supervisory authorities 
of Member States (the Members' Meeting), while the Managing Board of CEIOPS, 
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consisting of six members, and assisted by the Secretary-General, is responsible for 
administration and co-ordination of the work of CEIOPS. The director of the Agency is 
one of the members of the Managing Board. CEOIPS is currently presided by the Head 
of the Danish supervision and his alternate is the president of the German financial 
control institution. The remaining four members come from Great Britain, France, 
Belgium and, as already mentioned, Slovenia. At the plenary session in October 2004, 
the director of the Agency in his capacity of the Managing Board member was also 
appointed as the internal auditor of CEIOPS. 
 
Throughout 2005, the director of the Agency attended 6 plenary sessions of the 
Members' Meeting: in February in Frankfurt, in May in Brussels, in June in London, in 
September and October in Frankfurt and in December in Copenhagen. The director of 
the Agency in his capacity of the Managing Board member also attended meetings with 
the representatives of the European Commission. 
 
To discharge its tasks, CEIOPS may create Permanent Committees and establish 
project working groups. The major current task of CEIOPS is the project Solvency II; 
following the model developed in the already adopted new banking regulation (Basel 
II), the working groups were created to cover the so-called pillars of prudential 
supervision: under Pillar I the working group prepares proposals on capital 
requirements in life and non-life insurance, the working group under Pillar II is 
responsible for the review of the supervisory process; and the working group under 
Pillar III to prepare proposals on accounting and disclosure requirements. 
 
The purpose of the said project is not only to improve the criteria relating to capital 
requirements and solvency regime but to renew the existing rules of prudential 
supervision of insurance undertakings and develop an integral prudential system for 
supervision. It should be emphasised that the new solvency system has the same main 
objective as the old one – protection of policyholders. For this purpose it should offer 
adequate tools and powers to supervisory authorities to evaluate the overall solvency 
of all subjects of supervision, based on the assessment of all important risks as 
reasonably can be foreseen. The system covers both quantitative and qualitative 
elements to evaluate the health of a certain insurance undertaking, e.g. administrative 
capacity, internal risk control, risk monitoring, etc. The new solvency system will entail 
amendments to a number of the existing directives. 
 
Like Basel II, this project also has a three-pillars or areas structure: quantitative 
requirements in Pillar I, supervisory activities in Pillar II and supervisory reporting and 
public disclosure in Pillar III. The risk-oriented approach implies the recognition of 
internal risk management models and better reflects the true risk profile than under the 
existing standard formula for solvency calculation. Thus the internal module can result 
in a higher or lower amount for the solvency capital requirement than the amount 
based on the standard approach.   
 
The main focus of the Solvency II project is on capital requirements and supervisory 
inspections of individual legal entities. Notwithstanding, the European Commission 
expects also all important aspects related to supervision of insurance groups and 
financial conglomerates be addressed, including experience obtained in the period 
1998 – 2002 on the basis of both relevant directives. Hence, of equal importance are 
the use of internal risk assessment models in the financial group, the method of 
adopting decisions in the parent company, the suitable division of responsibility among 
supervisors, assessment of rules for capital distribution, etc. 
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CEIOPS has also the following Permanent Committees or groups:  
– group for insurance groups and intersectoral activities; 
– group for occupational pension insurance; 
– group for financial stability or macroeconomic aspects of insurance; 
– group for insurance group supervision; 
– group for insurance mediation issues. 
 
The Agency's representatives participate in a number of expert groups. In 2005, they 
attended eleven meetings held in Rome, Frankfurt, London, Vienna, Bonn and 
Budapest.  
 
The representatives of the Committee of European Insurance and Occupational 
Pension Supervisory (CEIOPS), Committee of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS) 
and the Committee of European Securities Regulators (CESR) signed the Joint 
Protocol on co-operation and co-ordination in the areas of regulation, policy, 
information exchange and other tasks with a common interest in Brussels in November 
2005. Since the committees already co-operate with each other, the purpose of the 
protocol is to further enhance and formalise the co-operation among them. The 
objectives of the protocol are sharing information, exchanging of experiences, reducing 
supervisory burdens, ensuring similar basic functioning of the three Committees and 
producing joint reports to relevant EU institutions and committees.  
 
In February 2006, a new working group was established with the main task of 
harmonisation of insurance procedures in the Member States. The members of the 
above-mentioned working group "Compass" (Task Force on COnvergence and iMPAct 
aSSessment) are 5 heads of insurance supervisory authorities, including the Insurance 
Supervision Agency. The first task of the working group will be preparation of 
instructions for the future reorganisation of the supervisory authority in the light of the 
new solvency regime (impact analysis) and organisation of training programmes and 
facilitating exchange of staff between EU supervisors. 

3.5.  Other Activities of the Insurance Supervision Agency 

In 2005, the representatives of the Agency attended a number of working meetings, 
seminars, professional consultations and conferences, whereby they also actively 
participated with papers, e.g. at the International Conference at Plitvice, and at the 
Twelve Days of Slovenian Insurance in Portorož, where they presented two papers. 
 
Members of the staff of the Agency also attended other seminars and workshops, 
including the Accountants Conference at Otočec, Days of Slovenian Lawyers, Days of 
Slovenian Administration, Consultation of Economic Operators in Portorož, and the 
workshop Job Systematisation at Radenci.  
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